

a review of the literature

### **Table of Contents**

Abstract	3
Introduction	4
Children's early learning experiences and the effect of these experiences on later learning	4
Approaches to development and learning that improve later literacy and numeracy acquisition	7
Literacy	7
Early literacy	8
Literacy and oral language	8
Literacy and environments	9
Literacy at home and the role of parents	9
Home, community and school	10
Boys and literacy	11
Rural and remote families	12
Indigenous education in the early years	12
Many languages, many literacies	14
Numeracy	14
Supporting young children's growth into literacy and numeracy	19
Literacy and numeracy with babies 0-3 years	19
Current examples of good practice in promoting early childhood learning	22
Other recent advances in understanding development needs in early childhood	25
Implications of research for the promotion of early literacy	25
Implications of research for the promotion of early literacy	26
Current pedagogy, child development theory and philosophy in the education and care sectors	

## Literacy and numeracy that counts from birth to five years: a review of the literature

Professor Marilyn Fleer - Monash University, Faculty of Education, Peninsula

Professor Bridie Raban – The University of Melbourne, Learning and Educational Development, Faculty of Education, Parkville<sup>1</sup>

### Abstract

Quality early educational experiences have a lasting effect on children's achievements. An overall analysis of the international and national literature on the effect of early learning experiences on later learning can be clustered into three major outcome areas: increased participation rates in education, socially adjusted behaviours in school and in later life, and higher qualitative educational outcomes. Family-related and community-related outcomes have also been shown to influence children's subsequent achievement. Those features which influenced the learning outcomes for children included: family attributes and processes, community factors, and centre or school, family and community partnerships. In addition, low family socioeconomic status, attending schools in poor communities, or having a first language other than the mainstream language of the community were shown to be linked to low attainment.

Although all children learn, they learn better with the support of others. Three ways of supporting children's learning have been identified: telling, showing and modelling, and talking and doing it together. However, it is the reciprocity between all three dimensions that makes the richest learning possible.

Everyday experiences build rich embedded understandings which work well in a certain situation (or horizontal level), but which require translation to move to an abstract level (or vertical, conceptual level). Children will have many conversations that require the use of mathematical and literacy terms and concepts within everyday settings, but very young children will not necessarily transfer these ideas to different contexts to solve problems or make meaning or communicate. Reciprocity between contexts and concepts is necessary, and teachers can create pathways for children to move between them.

It is particularly important to make explicit the rules and principles of literacy, numeracy and 'doing school' for Indigenous children and children growing up in economically disadvantaged communities. Moving from contexts to concepts occurs when the link between the every day to the abstract is made explicit.

#### Note

<sup>1</sup> Marilyn Fleer is Professor of Early Childhood Education at Monash University. Bridie Raban holds the Mooroolbeek Foundation Chair of Early Childhood Studies at the University of Melbourne.

### Introduction

This report presents a review of the literature from Australia and other countries relating to:

- children's early learning experiences and the effect of these experiences on later learning
- approaches to development and learning that improve later acquisition of literacy and numeracy
- current pedagogy, child development theory and philosophy in the education and care sectors
- current examples of good practice in promoting early childhood learning
- other recent advances in understanding developmental needs in early childhood.

The scope of this document means only a brief analysis is possible. Readers who wish to gain a deeper understanding should consult the selective bibliography.

# Children's early learning experiences and the effect of these experiences on later learning

There is overwhelming evidence that attributes quality early childhood experiences to children's subsequent achievement in schooling and later life (see Raban 2000; Bowman 2001). An analysis of the literature from Australia and other countries points to three major outcomes: increased participation rates in education, socially adjusted behaviours in school and in later life, and higher educational outcomes. These are summarised below.

Increased participation rates in education, including:

- increased benefits with longer times in early childhood programs (Kolb 1989; Reynolds 1995; McCain & Mustard 1999; Smith et al. 2000)
- a lack of year repetitions and reduced interventions (Campbell & Ramey 1994; Barnett 1995)
- increased secondary school completion rates (Roderick 1994)
- reduced resourcing needs for special education (Wasik et al. 1990)
- improved outcomes for girls (Caughty et al. 1994).

Positive social behaviours in school and in later life, including:

- positive socialisation outcomes (Johnson & Walker 1991)
- more settled behaviours (Rowe & Rowe 1997)
- aspirations for education and employment, motivation and commitment to schooling (Rutter 1985; Sylva 1994a, 1994b)
- prevention of chronic delinquency (Yoshikawa 1995) or crime and anti-social behaviour (Commonwealth of Australia 1999).

Higher educational outcomes, including:

- promoting short-term cognitive development and preparing children to succeed in school (Boocock 1995; Lunenburg & Irby 1999; Schweinhart & Weikart 1999)
- narrowing the achievement gaps faced by disadvantaged children (Smith et al. 2000; Centre for Community Child Health 2000)
- making a significant difference to the lives of disadvantaged children (Barnett 1995, 1997)
- reducing, but not removing, the effect of socioeconomic status (SES) backgrounds (Smith et al. 2000).

Of significance is the longstanding research from the United States (USA) which has systematically examined how high-quality early childhood programs, using the High/Scope educational approach, contribute to the life outcomes of participants born in poverty (eg Berrueta-Clements et al. 1984; Schweinhart et al. 1986, 1993, 1997; Seefeldt et al. 1997; Raver & Zigler 1997; Schweinhart and Weikart 1998, 1999; Abbott-Shim et al. 2000). The findings indicated that children were better prepared for school, had higher achievement-test scores in middle and high school; were likely to graduate from high school; as young adults earned more money, were more likely to own a home and a second car, and were less likely to be on welfare; and were arrested for half as many crimes (Schweinhart & Weikart 1999, p. 76) and 'children who experienced High/Scope had significantly higher achievement test scores than other students did' (Schweinhart & Weikart 1999, p. 78).

In the United Kingdom (UK), The Effective Provision of Preschool Education (EPPE) (Melhuish 2000; Siraj-Blatchford & Taggart 2000; Sylva & McSherry 2000; Sylva & Sammons 2000) was commissioned in 1997 to specifically examine the effect of preschool education on subsequent achievement for children in England and Wales. The EPPE study is a five-year longitudinal research project designed to assess the attainment and development of children aged three to seven years. Specifically, the study examined the effects of preschool education on children's cognitive attainment and social and behavioural development on entry to school, and after two years. The findings demonstrate that differences in educational outcomes for children are linked to staff qualifications, with trained early years teachers providing the highest educational outcomes for children (Sylva et al. 2001). They were better able to sustain conversations with children and were more knowledgeable about child development.

In New Zealand, the National Institute of Child Health and Development, which followed a representative sample of 1085 children from birth until three years old, found strong links between quality child-care programs and cognitive outcomes, particularly for school readiness and language" (McCartney 1999, p. 7, as cited in Smith et al. 2000, p. 49).

In Australia, de Lemos (1999, p. 14) investigated the outcomes of children attending preschool and found:

children in the full-time pre-primary program scored at a significantly higher level than children in the part-time preschool program ... the difference in performance between these groups increased from June to November, suggesting that children in a full-time pre-primary program were gaining more from the full-time program than was the case for children in the part-time program.

In contrast, the EPPE (UK) has indicated that there does not seem to be that much difference between the outcomes of children going to full- or part-time preschool.

Family-related and community-related outcomes also influence children's subsequent achievement.

In a best evidence synthesis of international research, Biddulph et al. (2003) found that family attributes and processes, community factors, and centre/school, family and community partnerships were the key levers for high quality outcomes for a diverse range of children. The evidence is summarised below.

The significant family attributes that were associated with achievement in children were as follows:

- culture and ethnicity, with dominant cultural groups achieving at the highest levels
- language, where children whose first language is the language of instruction recording higher achievement
- quality of family ties (not structure or change in structure) and the resources available to families were both linked to higher achievement.
- low SES is linked to low achievement.

The family processes that can affect educational outcomes are as follows:

- Higher levels of educational expectations have the most positive effects on achievement.
- Attendance at schools in higher SES neighbourhoods has a positive effect on achievement.
- Dysfunctional family processes can affect outcomes.
- TV viewing for fewer than three to four hours daily relates to higher achievement when compared with children who view TV for longer periods of time.
- Rich home environments, which include positive contact and interaction with extended family, including meaningful mathematics experiences and varied language encounters (oral and written), are linked to higher achievement.

The community factors that increase educational achievement are:

- social networks which provide opportunities to develop cultural identity and a sense of belonging
- access to local community resources, such as libraries, doctors and social support agencies, together with schooling.

The Centre or school, family and community partnerships that enhance children's achievement are:

- integrated programs
- use of school-like activities by families within the home or community context
- collaboration between home and school.

In Australia, the Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs (DETYA – now the Department of Education, Science and Training, DEST) identified that educational environments should be inclusive of culturally appropriate materials, programs which build upon children's home and community experiences and writing programs which are connected with familiar experiences in home language and Standard Australian English (SAE) (DETYA 2000b, p. 54):

Surrounding kids with supportive people and a supportive context, lots of Aboriginal role models, heaps of culture. The kids should say, we are proud of who we are every single day.

DETYA (2000c, p. 16) has also demonstrated that cultural recognition, acknowledgement and support, the development of requisite skills, and adequate levels of participation are all factors that influence children's success in education:

Success will not be achieved without recognition of the cultural factors which may impact on the success; nor will it occur without the consent, approval and willing participation of those involved.

DETYA (2000c, p. 6) has also shown that Indigenous students, and others who lack experience of the dominant 'schooled' discourse, need teachers who are explicit in making the links across home culture and school culture.

In this regard there are 3 ways of supporting children's learning: telling, showing and modelling, and working together (DETYA, 2000c: .23).

The international research provides strong evidence that the best possible outcomes for children are achieved when they experience quality early childhood education alongside of positive family/community experiences. The latter is significant, as major reviews of childhood and family outcomes in recent years have all demonstrated that there is overwhelming evidence for investing early for improved health and wellbeing of young children (see Shore 1997; Ochlitree & Moore 2002; Commonwealth of Australia 2003).

Like governments across the world (Hannon 1995), the Australian Government (Report HRSCEET 1993; DETYA 1998) has been expressing concerns about levels of literacy and numeracy achievement among school students. Those from rural and remote regions, Indigenous students, boys, children from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds and those from low socioeconomic areas have been identified as underachieving in national surveys conducted in Years 3 and 5 by the Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER) (Masters 1997). Consequently literacy and numeracy continues to attract much attention within educational research and especially in the early years (Young 1995; Hill et al. 1998; Young-Loveridge et al. 1998; Anning and Edwards 1999; Makin et al.1999; Barratt-Pugh & Rohl 2000; Ginsburg 2000; Makin & Jones Diaz 2002; Perry & Dockett 2002; Raban & Coates 2004). This is because there is a growing recognition that literacy learning is taking place during the years before formal schooling begins. Indeed, many researchers point out that the early years have major significance for later school success. In the recent review of literature prepared for the UK government, David et al. (2003, p. 10) argue:

No time is too soon to begin, with studies showing that right from birth (in fact, even before birth) children are already competent learners.

# Approaches to development and learning that improve later literacy and numeracy acquisition

#### Literacy

Traditionally, literacy has been defined as reading and writing. In recent times this definition has been widened to include speaking, listening and viewing. There is a further call for literacy to be redefined to recognise the new literacy skills required by the use of information technology (Arthur & Makin 2001) such as visual and other non-linear ICT literacies (Makin 2004). Research into literacy learning is examined in this section through a systematic study of early literacy, literacy and oral language, and literacy environments. We then consider the unique

characteristics of rural and remote families, boys, Indigenous children, literacy at home and the role of parents. Finally, we examine home, community and school literacy alongside the many languages and literacies that are possible across groups and contexts.

#### **Early literacy**

Literacy begins well before school, perhaps even from birth (eg Sulzby 1985, 1994; Sulzby & Teale 1991; Australian Language and Literacy Council 1995; Reading Excellence Act 1999), and what young children learn about literacy in the preschool years is vital for later success (Hannon 1996). As Makin and Spedding (2003, p. 39) explain:

Literacy in the first three years of life is as much about relationships as knowledge and understandings. Early literacy interactions combine social interaction and a growth in empathy with development in thinking and learning about the world.

Goodman (1986) has termed this period as the 'roots of literacy'. Findings from a study by Neuman and Roskos (1997) report that long before formal instruction begins, young children use writing and reading behaviours as part of their daily lives if they are encouraged. As Raban (2003) suggests, an important phase of early literacy learning for young children is participation in authentic writing and reading practices that take place within family and community contexts. Research replicated in four countries shows that later success depends in large part on these early experiences and understandings (David et al. 2000).

#### Literacy and oral language

There are strong connections between a young child's early language experience and later literacy development (Anderson & Freebody 1981; Snow 1991). In an ongoing study carried out by a research team from Harvard Graduate School of Education (Dickinson & Tabors 2001, 2002) findings point to the preschool period as one that makes crucial contributions in preparing children for their later literacy achievements. This extensive study conducted over several years specifically focusing on the home environment (Tabors et al. 2001, p. 330), concluded that the activities in the home made a considerable contribution to a child's ultimate literacy success:

Everyday activities of all sorts, accompanied by interesting talk with lots of new vocabulary words, can play an important part in children's language and literacy development.

Another finding was the need for vocabulary-rich talk within the contexts of play and everyday experiences.

Other studies (Hart & Risley 1995; Purcell-Gates 1995) also concluded that a strong relationship existed between children's early language skills and later reading abilities. Levels of language and literacy skills that children have before school and on entering the school environment are strong predictors of achievement many years later (Cunningham & Stanovich 1997). According to Fox (2001, p. 13):

The foundations of learning to read are set down from the moment a child first hears the sounds of people talking, the tunes of songs, and the rhythms and repetitions of rhymes and stories).

However, Watson (2001) states that the relationship between oral language and literacy is bidirectional. Indeed, Raban and Coates (2004) point out that waiting for oral language

development before thinking about acknowledging literacy experiences may not be helpful, as their research described a reciprocal relationship with oral language and literacy supporting the development of both abilities.

Long before a child utters their first word, parents and children begin to communicate. Their first communications take on the form of gestures initiated by the adults (Karmiloff & Karmiloff-Smith 2001). Parents take a leading role in a child's language development mainly by talking to young children about the here and now, by being selective about the words they use, by encouraging children to take turns in a conversation, by altering the way they say things such as slowing down or in the usage of short, simple sentences. Although the development of literacy skills is different from the development of language, it is interrelated, as shown by the work of Reese (1995).

#### **Literacy environments**

Young children's environments do affect their literacy development. Environments need to be language rich, that is, with interesting conversation taking place using many words, and with stories and explanations given. Children of parents who directed more speech to them had larger vocabularies (Hart & Risley 1995) and faster vocabulary growth over time (Huttenlocher et al. 1991). A major UK study by Siraj-Blatchford et al. (2002) reported that positive outcomes for young children are linked to adult–child interactions that involve 'sustained and shared' talking time, involved open-ended questioning and ongoing feedback during activities. As Clay (2001) points out, every child brings into their first school classroom their own repertoire of literacy learning, which has been significantly shaped by the social and cultural environment into which the child was born (Bruner 1986). The environment, therefore, has a vital impact on all aspects of a child's literacy development.

A review of the results of longitudinal studies of the home environments of young children by Snow et al. (1998) concluded that differences in home literacy environments relate directly to differences in achievements during the latter years of schooling. However, much attention is now being paid to the ways in which schools can modify their responses to children's differing literacy experiences, by building on the strengths children bring with them into the classroom (eg Carrington 2002), accommodating the richness and variety of children's home and community experiences. This research also demonstrates that the educational practices (eg focus on verbal communication, creation of abstract learning contexts and alternating attention management) that are found in schools and centres tends to support the home practices of European heritage children and are less likely to support the cultural regularities found in other culturally and linguistically diverse communities.

#### Literacy at home and the role of parents

For many children literacy is an integral part of their everyday life at home and in the community. As pointed out by Rickleman and Henk (1991), parents play a critical role in the development of their children's life-long attitudes towards reading. Through normal family activities, children 'develop ideas and values about literacy practices and activities and their personal and cultural identity' (McNaughton 1995, p. 17). In learning to be literate children participate in particular cultural and social events and experiences (Barratt-Pugh 2000). But as Anstey and Bull (1996, p. 158) point out, 'there is no one set of literacy practices common to all communities'. Indeed, parents' views of what literacy is and how it develops affect their structuring of everyday activities for children (Reese & Gallimore 2000).

Parents' reading to their children has warranted a great deal of attention. Mem Fox (2001) and Paul Jennings (2003), both well-respected Australian children's authors, have stressed the significance of sharing books and reading aloud to children, a finding confirmed by the research of Halsall and Green (1995). Swinson (1985) looked at increased book sharing with preschool aged children and found that by increasing the level of daily home reading from around 15 per cent to 100 per cent in a one-year program, gains were measured in both oral vocabulary and verbal comprehension. In a follow-up study after entry to school, gains were also noted on word matching and letter identification when compared to children in a control group.

Hannon and James (1990) found parents of preschool children, across a wide range of families, are also active in promoting their children's literacy development. This finding was echoed in a study of families from a lower socioeconomic context in one geographical area of Melbourne where families were found to be providing rich and meaningful literacy environments (Fleer et al. 2004). Hill et al. (1998) along with Landerholm and Karr (2000) also found that children are involved in a range of home and community literacy experiences. Through these interactions the child is being engaged in various and extensive language and literacy experiences.

Weinberger et al. (1990) at Sheffield University have shown that to maximise the effect on children's literacy development it is important for parents to provide experiences within the ORIM framework they outline:

- opportunities for learning
- recognition of the child's achievements
- interaction around literacy activities
- models of literacy.

A framework such as this enables a variety of literacy experiences to become more available for consideration. For instance, Rodriguez (1999) found that Dominican preschool children in New York City were finding print materials an interesting part of their world and were observed to engage with literacy while watching television and singing.

#### Home, community and school

Family literacy practices vary and some practices may have particular consequences for later school success (Mandel Morrow 2004). The closer the match between home and community literacy practices and school literacy practices, the more likely that the child will be successful in school literacy learning (eg Heath 1983; Cairney 1994; Gregory 1994; Hill et al. 1998; Makin & Jones Diaz 2002; Paulson & Kelly 2004). However, home literacy practices need to be more clearly understood so that full advantage can be taken of the understandings children bring with them into school (Burgess et al. 2002). As Serpell and Sonnenschein (2002) show, a significant proportion of the variance in children's literacy development was predicted by indices of intimate family culture, leaving little or no additional variance due to family income or ethnicity. Wolter (2000) emphasises the adoption of strategies for viewing families neutrally and avoiding assumptions and judgements.

Teachers and parents have very different views of literacy and how literacy development should be undertaken (Heath 1983; Taylor 1983; Taylor & Dorsey-Gaines 1988; Hannon et al. 1991; Baker & Sonnenschein 1996). Staff in early childhood settings generally have little cultural knowledge about children's home literacy practices and do not incorporate them into their programs (Makin et al. 2000; Fleer et al. 2004). As Campbell and Jones Diaz (1995, p. 70) state 'any educational context must be attuned to the home-language context and to the

accommodating of children's knowledge and experiences'. This will be especially so when you consider that Makin et al. (1995) propose that literacy is most appropriately established initially in a child's home language.

#### **Boys and literacy**

Literacy practices are both shaped and reshaped by gender subjectivities (Gilbert 1989; Davies 1989, 1993; Cherland 1994). Maynard (2002) examined student writing in one school setting. She found that there were 'no apparent gender differences in the early development of writing skills' (Maynard 2002, p. 73), but girls in Years 2 to 4 seemed to be more focused and more responsive to teachers' guidance. The same thing was apparent in Years 5 to 6. However, teachers asserted that boys' writing was conceptually better than girls' by this time. Maynard (2002, p. 76) concluded that 'girls' strengths in writing were seen as being related to hard work, while boys' strengths were related to their "natural ability". Another argument presented was that girls are more likely to write for their teachers while boys are more likely to write for themselves. The implication drawn by Blackburn (2003, p. 276) from reading Maynard's work is that 'boys' lower achievement in literacy may have more to do with the fact that they define their audiences on their own terms rather than on assessors' terms'.

Brozo (2002) identifies four points to consider in facilitating boys' engagement in reading:

- reading material must be tied to boys' interests
- boys' interests must be honoured when selecting texts
- 'Books with positive male archetypes are important' (Brozo 2002, p. 157)
- adults must model engaged reading.

He makes the case that boys are in the greatest need of help with their literacy achievements, stressing the importance of engaging boys in active literacy experiences, and that they need to be exposed to literary images they can identify with and look up to.

Millard (1997) argues that many boys do shy away from literacy activities in their need to establish a masculine identity – the feeling being that reading is a 'feminine' activity. Millard conducted a study focusing on middle schools in Great Britain. From the findings she proposed that there are distinct gender differences in literacy attitudes and practices at school and in the home. One issue raised is the self-segregation among girls and boys due to their different perceptions of reading and writing. Linked to this are 'the concerns about bridging the gap between experiences of reading at home and at school, and between the narratives of popular culture and the traditional class "reader" (Askew discussing Millard's work, 1998, p. 104). Millard proposes the use of non-literary texts to engage boys and to broaden the definition of literacy within schools.

While Millard (1997) and Askew (1998) report school-based data, Makin and Spedding (2001) show gender differences in literacy behaviours by study participants from the first months of life and that these are wider when children reach three years. The most obvious gender difference at the three ages reported in this study (8–12 months, 18–22 months, 32–36 months) were reported to demonstrate both a larger number and wider range of early literacy behaviours. If this finding is replicated in further studies, then it indicates that gender differences in literacy start very early in a child's life.

#### **Rural and remote families**

Ryan (2001) reports on the findings of a major inquiry into rural and remote education in Australia by the Federal Commissioner for Human Rights (MCEETYA 2001). The Inquiry's central finding was that the right to education of many Australian children was violated on the basis of one or more of five criteria:

- schooling available without discrimination
- accessible
- affordable
- acceptable culturally to children and their families
- adaptable to different student needs and circumstances.

Rural and remote children are among the most disadvantaged compared to their urban peers, with Indigenous students the most disadvantaged. This Inquiry stressed the need to make educational innovations locally appropriate and 'owned' by the communities, and noted the importance of support for children and families during the preschool years.

#### Indigenous education in the early years

Williams-Kennedy (2004, p. 84) clarifies the nature of Indigenous cultural learning which is 'built on collaboration in on-going activities, and the purpose of the daily activities and reasons for learning are obvious to the children'. Indeed, all children learn best when they 'contribute to real-life family activities where the purpose and significance of such activities is clearly understood'. Many Indigenous children 'are expected to learn through observation, participation in daily extended family activities and non-verbal systems of communication' (Williams-Kennedy 2004, p. 87). What is common for all young children is that early 'literacy development is essentially a collaborative social process rather than an individual activity' (William-Kennedy 2004, p. 89). For young children during their early years, all forms of communication need to be learned, to be 'read' or 'made sense of'. For all cultures this will be body language, prosody, hand movements and head nods, and the like – each being interpreted through the matrix of context, audience and purpose.

Gaining understandings of their world through these real-life experiences is a valued beginning to 'reading' meanings, of which meaning from printed text is only one form. Acknowledging the complexity of young children's successful learning in these culturally defined ways provides a stronger base from which to support their increasing repertoire of resources.

Research into the nature of Indigenous children's literacy in prior-to-school settings (see Fleer & Williams-Kennedy 2002; Williams-Kennedy 2004) suggests educators recognise that literacy for many Indigenous families also involves 'ability to communicate appropriately within kinship systems, as well as being able to read and interpret local symbols of nature, in order to sustain and maintain family and culture' (Williams-Kennedy p. 80). In particular, this research advocates for a broader view of literacy, in which multiple literacies feature, including:

- speaking
- listening
- reading natural and human made symbols
- recording language in lore
- stories
- songs
- dance

- rituals and traditions
- observing body and sign language.

In addition, this research also strongly supported the importance of accepting Aboriginal English as a recognised language in its own right (see Box 1).

### Box 1: Literacy and numeracy in the community (Fleer & Williams-Kennedy 2002)

Family is on a picnic in the bush a few kilometres from Alice Springs. Janette (mother) has Tahlia (four years old) on her hip and is walking around the area, then settles next to Tahlia's grandmother. Some conversations are heard in Language.

*Janette:* My mum speaks Language to Tahlia all the time. She is now starting to talk back. She teaches others too. She shows Leanne's two children (non-Indigenous children). When we go outback, we teach animal names and things.

*Janette:* When Tahlia grows up she will need English and Language. If she is like me, then she will need both.

Grandma has a crow-bar in her hand and is digging a hole in the ground. Digging occurs for 40 minutes. (Very little discussion is heard.)

Janette: Grandma has a teacher role; parents are more of the disciplinarian.

You see it in town. Grandparents take over. She was always the one to teach them to do things. Same with the country and the Language. That role is still there – another thing we take for granted.

Grandmother continues to dig whilst the family members move about. The children sit and watch for most of that time. Tahlia moves the dirt Grandma takes out of the hole to one side. During this time, the children sit and watch the activity, occasionally moving around the bush.

Janette: There – she is explaining to them what is good and not good (bush food).

Janette walks with the children over to a nearby tree and picks up a Bush Coconut. She places it on the ground and cracks it open with a rock. Discussions occur in Language. The inside of the Bush Coconut is shown to the children. The children watch and listen.

*Janette:* Non-Indigenous people think that we just go on a bush trip; they think we just go out and have a picnic; they don't know that we teach them things.

*Janette:* We let the kids go out by themselves; exploring; it's giving them a chance to do it; they then come back and show us that they found these (gestures with hands); they explore and learn things too, instead of us just putting it into their heads; they enjoy sharing with their friends; they talk about their knowledge.

*Janette:* They have got to learn both ways -2 way learning is making them one person! In our Indigenous preschool (Yiparinya) they get both.

#### Many languages, many literacies

Evidence suggests that children can easily learn more than one language from birth and in many countries this is normal language behaviour. In Australia, however, there is a strong movement towards 'one literacy'. This equates with English literacy and is heavily focused towards standardisation and doing away with difference, complexity and diversity (Lo Bianca & Freebody 2001). However, there is an increasing number of people who hold an alternative view which recognises the importance of a sociocultural view of literacy that is multicultural and multilingual. Ezell and Gonzales (2000) argue that there are many different paths to proficiency in SAE and that the home lives of children and the early preschool experiences that children have provide a strong foundation for literacy development.

There are positive effects of bilingualism (Skutnabb-Kangas 1981; Hakuta 1986; Hakuta & Pease-Alvarez 1992). Positive effects include increased self esteem, positive attitudes to learning, positive identity, cognitive flexibility, increased problem-solving, increased literacy and greater metalinguistic awareness. At least one in four children is likely to understand and maybe speak a home language other than English with many families and children at home or preschool speaking dialects of English such as Aboriginal English.

It is critically important that children have the opportunity to continue developing their home language (and early literacy skills) as a strong foundation in the first language provides the basis for later learning of the second language (Barratt-Pugh & Rohl 1994; Siraj-Blatchford & Clarke 2000; Kenner et al. 2004). Similarly, for those whose first language is English, there is considerable evidence that learning of a second language can enhance English literacy skills. For example, the Review of the Commonwealth LOTE Programme (Erebus Consulting Partners 2002) cited studies (Thomas et al. 1993; Bialystok 1997) showing that bilingual children understood the symbolic representation of print better than monolingual children, and that those who participated in intensive foreign language programs scored as well or better than all comparison groups on achievement tests, and remained high academic achievers throughout their schooling.

As Lennox (1995) points out, there is no one theory that can best describe children's literacy learning. A variety of theories are needed to take account of the complexities of children from diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds growing up in a range of social and cultural contexts. Australian communities reflect a wide variety of multiple literacies with over 248 community languages, including 48 Aboriginal languages (Australian Bureau of Statistics 2000). Literacy as a social practice is more accurately described as multiple literacies within people's local, social and cultural contexts, all of which interact in complex ways.

#### Numeracy

The term 'numeracy' has been much contested (eg Anning & Edwards 1999; DETYA 2000c; Perry & Dockett 2002), and approaches to numeracy have been interpreted widely across Australia. The Australian Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs (DETYA 2000c, p. 4) in citing Willis (1998a, p. 38) states:

Reflecting on varied definitions, Willis (1998) synthesised major perspectives as having one of three foci: 1) on mathematics itself, with numeracy used more or less synonymously with mathematics; 2) on the contexts in which people are expected to function where numeracy is seen to be quite context specific; and 3) on the processes needed to choose and use mathematics, where numeracy is described in terms of strategic mathematical processes and the capacity to bridge the gap between mathematics and the real world. She considers that 'to develop numeracy as practical knowledge would seem to require a blending of these three interpretations [mathematical, contextual, strategic].

Doig et al. (2002, p. 13) in their review of the early childhood literature for effective numeracy strategies have shown by implication that very little evidenced-based research exists in Australia. Their findings suggest that: 'what constitutes numeracy in the pre-school and how it should be presented to children remains to be answered'. Perry and Dockett (2002, p. 65) pointed out in their review that not only do young children have great potential for learning mathematics (see Cobb & Bauerfeld 1995; Becker & Selter 1996; Bobis et al. 1999; Tang & Ginsburg 1999) but also that children know a vast range of 'mathematical concepts by the time they start primary school' (see also Wright 2002). Perry and Dockett (2002) cite evidence of:

- arithmetical operations (Boulton-Lewis et al. 1996)
- patterning and tessellations, and notions of fairness and fractions (Paley 1981).

Willis (2002, p. 120) has also stated that there is evidence of very young children's capacity in mathematics:

During the past two decades, evidence has been accumulating that babies just a few weeks old have a sense of numerosity (see Dehaene 1997, Butterworth 1999, Devlin 2000). They can make distinctions between arrays of one, two and three distinct items, although of course they cannot name the distinction).

Aubrey et al. (2003), in their review of mathematics in the home, noted that:

- mothers and toddlers use number names in the context of nursery rhymes stories and songs; sequential complements with routines (one, two, three and ready steady go); recitation of number strings with and without actions; repetition and clarification of cardinality; counting for numerosity, counting for turn-taking (count with me) and incidental number use (eg how old are you?) (Durkin et al. 1986)
- families used mathematics for incidental tasks (accomplishment of an activity) and pedagogical tasks (teaching or practising mathematical concepts) with the latter mothers or carers took on the role of playmate and equal participant, extending the child's knowledge (Tizard & Hughes 1984; Walkerdine 1988; Aubrey et al. 2003)
- parent mediation of number sequences and one-to-one correspondence counting through a form of apprenticeship in the context of domestic routines or play was evident more counting mediation was noted in preschool settings than in the home context (Young 1995).

Perry and Dockett (2002) found in their review of mathematics in the prior-to-school settings that:

- mathematics instruction occurs incidentally in prior-to-school settings (Young-Loveridge et al. 1998)
- 42 per cent of all play experiences observed in preschools featured mathematical experiences (Ginsburg 2000)
- block play supports mathematics education (Rogers 1999, 2000)
- water, sand and dramatic play support mathematics learning (Perry & Conroy 1994)

- effective learning of mathematical concepts during play occurs when the educators 'adopt the role of provacateur' (Edwards et al. 1993; Griffiths 1994; van Oers 1996; Perry & Dockett 1998; Yackel 1998)
- effective learning occurs when 'children and their educators become more aware of the fact that they are engaging in numeracy activities and that they are encouraged to undertake them with the possibility that they might learn some numeracy ideas' (Perry & Dockett 2002, p. 66).

Guberman (1999) argues that although there is evidence of children's prior-to-school mathematics experience and competence, supportive parent-child interactions are needed if mathematical experience is to be turned into valued mathematical knowledge. Graham et al. (1997) in their study of four preschool teachers in two child-care settings found that although teachers expressed the view that mathematics was important and that they organised mathematical learning opportunities, very little mathematics was presented directly or indirectly to children. Anning and Edwards (1999, p. 118) have shown in their research that children frequently engage in mathematical conversations with adults, but they do not necessarily understand the mathematics involved in the same way that adults do.

Guberman (1999) suggests that the type of activities and their frequency vary across cultures (Ginsburg et al. 1981) and across ethnic groups (Guberman 1999) and as a result mathematical knowledge and skills develop differently in prior-to-school settings (Saxe 1991; Nunes et al. 1993; Abreu 1995). Willis (2002, p. 12) has found in her analysis of the literature that:

Across many cultures, rhymes, stories and games for young children promote ... (the) capacity to recognise and distinguish between small numbers of items 'at a glance' and to 'name the distinction'.

She also reports (Willis 2002, p. 123) that in rural communities different pathways to numeracy learning are also evident:

*I have been told by graziers' and farmers' children that they learnt to tally stock by recognising and counting groups before learning one to one counting in school.* 

Willis (2002, p. 124) in drawing upon Gilmore's (1934, pp. 153–4) documentation of how she learned to recognise 'twoness, threeness, and so on' as a result of being shown the 'black method' from Indigenous elders, states:

To me it seemed easy to miscount by ones – easy to miss a single sheep – impossible to miss three, four or five, though I was surest with three. As a matter of fact I thought it a waste of time to say one, two, three, four when I could say three, six, nine and so on.

According to Willis (2002) evidence points to the fact that traditional beliefs about learning to count for enabling children to represent quantity has placed too much emphasis 'on one to one counting as the only way to decide "how many" and Willis (2002) suggest that this approach 'may actually delay children's development of a sense of the size of numbers and their flexibility in dealing with them' (Willis 2002, p. 123). In essence, Willis questions the single mathematical pathway that has been built and mainstreamed. This is also supported elsewhere (see Aubrey 1997). While learning to count is still important, the pathways for learning quantity may require teacher programs which support a diverse range of strategies (see Willis 2001, p. 5) for building

numeracy outcomes for children – still arriving at the overall outcome, but in ways which engage more immediately with learner's experiences – as shown in Figure 1.



#### Fig 1 Various possible and optimal pathways for learning numeracy (from Willis 2002, p5)

This research 'does not treat the curriculum as neutral or "innocent" (Willis 2001, p. 4) but rather suggests that children are different and schools and teachers need to understand, map and determine how programs can be built in ways that cater for diverse or different pathways for numeracy (Willis 2001).

Perry and Dockett (2002) argue that mathematical knowledge and skills are desirable outcomes (Mannigel 1992; Copley 2000; National Council of Teachers of Mathematics 2000) and should be integrated into meaningful contexts for learners. They suggest the following innovations as examples of curriculums which feature relevance, activity and social context:

- Early Mathematical Experiences (Schools Council 1978)
- Te Whaariki New Zealand inclusive early childhood curriculum (Ministry of Education, New Zealand 1996)
- Flying Start and Essential Connections (Department of Education, Tasmania, 1997, 2004)
- Preschool Curriculum Guidelines (Queensland School Curriculum Council 1998)
- Singapore Preschool Syllabus (Sharpe 1998)
- Foundation Areas of Learning (Department of Education and Children's Services, South Australia 1996).

Other programs available to help teachers assess young children's numeracy skills and understandings include:

- Count Me In Too (CMIT) (Bobis & Gould 1998a, 1999b, 2000; New South Wales Department of Education and Training 2000)
- Mathematics Recovery (Wright 2000; Wright et al. 1996, 2002)
- Learning Framework in Number (LFIN) (NSW Department of Education and Training 2000; Wright et al. 2000).

In a comprehensive study of children and their families from lower socioeconomic backgrounds, Fleer et al. (2004) found that families provided rich and purposeful mathematical and literacy environments (both areas featured in their study). These environments were much richer than those expected by the teachers who worked with the children. Through photos taken of the children in the home, and the parents' subsequent discussion of these at the family workshop, the diversity of constructions of numeracy being enacted was shown. Some examples of the range of literacy and numeracy activities included: doing puzzles, drawing, reading the newspapers together, reading the television guide, going to the library for books and videos, computer games (those designed to 'teach', 'educational' CDs, and others), 'reading' and telling stories to others (including teddies and dolls), looking at picture books, board games, and singing or saying rhymes.

Examples of the range of numeracy experiences included cooking, setting the table, counting objects (such as fruit, fingers, toy cars and houses in a street), making collections, sorting and classifying toys and people, lining up objects, ordering objects, recognising numerals on the letter boxes while out on a walk, playing tenpin bowling, drafting patterns for dolls' clothes, playing hopscotch, reading speed limits (and commenting on speed being travelled!), talking about shapes (such as moon, stars and trees), building with blocks and saving and counting pocket money.

Many of the parents related that through being involved in the project they had become much more aware of the scope of literacy and numeracy experiences they engaged in on a day-to-day basis, for example:

*There is much more to this literacy and numeracy than you realise, you know, from day one.* (*L1*)

... every time I tuned in he was actually learning, everything was literacy and numeracy. (L2)

... we read to them, we write, but you don't realise you do it (develop literacy and numeracy with their children). It is just embedded. (J)

The data demonstrated that families had well-formed views on what was literacy and numeracy, and also knew how to promote learning in these areas through authentic experiences.

Guberman (1999, p. 204) has shown in his extensive review of behaviourist, constructivist and socioculturally framed studies that within supportive environments children participate meaningfully when there:

- is flexibility that allows the transformation of activities in ways that encourage children's participation from novice to expert status
- are moment-to-moment changes of instructional interactions, as when parents adjust their assistance in response to children's ongoing difficulties
- are age-related and socially organised changes that occur as activities are modified for children by others, as when adults assign children of different ages to distinct settings and tasks
- are changes in activities that are brought about by children through their own participation, as when children interpret and transform games in varied ways.

Sometimes, changes are accomplished through negotiation as children interact with more knowledgeable partners, sometimes through the arrangement of appropriate activities for children by adults and social institutions, and sometimes through peer interaction as children bring prior knowledge to their joint participation (Guberman (1999, pp. 204–205).

Research undertaken into the use of calculators and other technologies for supporting early years mathematics has shown positive outcomes for children (eg Clarke 1992; Groves & Cheesman 1992, 1995; Clements et al. 1993; Power 1996; Stacey & Groves 1996; Becker 2000; Cordes & Miller 2000; Pianfetti 2001). This would suggest that their use can also be considered for the birth to five years ages. Plowman and Stephen (2003), in their general review of international research into the use of Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) for preschools, provide evidence that in the context of a play-based environment, and with better software and pedagogical models for the broad range of technologies now available to children, important educational outcomes are possible. This perspective is also supported by Yelland (1999) and the Alliance for Childhood Report (Cordes & Miller 2000).

Overall there is a limited research base on which to draw for making conclusive statements and setting directions for pedagogy and practice in preschool mathematics. While further research is urgently needed, we know from the reviews of the literature that context and interactions are significant and school mathematics is being influenced by research that examines numeracy in prior-to-school contexts.

#### Supporting young children's growth into literacy and numeracy

#### Literacy and numeracy with babies 0–3 years

Babies are skilful from birth, and Murray and Andrews (2000) state they are attracted to people from that moment onwards. They know how to attract attention, they understand quickly and recognise routines, they respond positively to cuddles, familiar voices and other enjoyable activities. Makin and Whitehead (2004) note from their observations just how capable young babies are at making sense of their surroundings, mediated by the people who care for them daily. Babies understand that what they experience has meaning for them, what they hear, see, feel, taste and smell. Some of these experiences are positive and babies seek to enjoy them over and over again. They learn readily how they can attract attention and make this happen.

Given the distinctly symbolic nature of literacy and numeracy, a first step towards these abstract accomplishments, as Whitehead (1996) has pointed out, is to understand that one thing can stand for something else. This is at the very essence of language, which along with walking, are the major achievements of the first year of life. Children learn to talk because they are surrounded by it, even before birth. They learn that certain words go with certain behaviours in a regular pattern and that they can use noises and eventually first words to create meanings and make themselves understood.

Eimas et al. (1971) show how very young babies pay particular attention to adults who talk to them and with them. Indeed, as Pinker (1995) points out this is an essential ingredient for healthy early development. As Trevarthen (1995) has demonstrated, infants engage in eye contact, gurgle and move their mouth in synchrony with the words and sounds they hear. Such playful interactions have been referred to by Trevarthen and Aitken (2001) as 'protoconversations' that gradually offer the young child opportunities for anticipating and predicting, and they form the basis for social and cognitive advances in the first year of life.

When talking with babies, an activity that parents find irresistible according to Gopnik et al. (1999), adults typically gaze at the baby in a highly focused manner, they also coo and gurgle, and they speak with a greater range of tone and prosody, emphasising and exaggerating words and meanings for the baby to engage with. This form of language has been termed 'motherese' by Snow and Ferguson (1997). Adults and other children make faces with babies and use their hands to demonstrate their meanings. Babies wiggle their arms and legs in excitement and do this when their name is called or they hear a familiar voice.

Many babies are being held while the adult is doing something else, for instance, looking up a TV program in the newspaper or looking for a number in the phone book. Sometimes they might be looking in a catalogue for information or checking a bill or a statement. Clark's research (1976) illustrates how babies will notice these activities and will want to engage with them. They will want to hold the pen and make marks of their own. They can see that these behaviours around them are not random – they are rich with purpose and meaning for those engaged with them. Babies are inquisitive and curious, and they want to be able to join in all the shared activities within the household. For instance, Cushla at eight months old was fascinated by the calendar in her grandmother's kitchen (Butler 1979, p. 26):

on being held close she would make a strenuous effort to focus on the large black numbers underneath the coloured picture. She would then appear to 'scan' them, the whole procedure occupying several minutes.

Telling and reading stories together during a quiet time after a meal or nap are a good beginning for engaging babies with the language and values of their culture. Turning off the television or radio, making close physical contact and talking about what is going on around the house, or what has taken place or is planned for another time will be rewarding and enrich children's later vocabulary (Evans et al. 2000). Introducing toys, books and other objects will give a joint focus that will create the hallmark for sharing and developing further opportunities for language development. McArthur (1995) has shown how playing with language, using songs that become familiar, rhymes and rhythms with movements associated become opportunities for giving babies a sense of the patterning of language.

Whitehead (2002) has shown that looking at books and other texts together, even if only talking about the pictures and pointing to objects that are familiar, will be an early start to later literacy development. Stahl (2003) found an especially salient activity, when the adult tracks the print with a finger, giving an opportunity for the baby to explore concepts like directionality. Using the same story book over and over again will also give babies a sense of security and familiarity, as well as contributing to later vocabulary development (Evans et al. 2000). Counting fingers and toes at bath time and nappy changing, telling the time from a clock, counting packages while out shopping, talking about things being too heavy or food being too warm and the like will all prime the baby for later numeracy conversations.

Some of the key messages for practice suggested by David et al. (2003) are that babies need (and seem to enjoy):

- responsive and encouraging interactions
- turn-taking patterns of interaction
- motherese, rhyming games, singing and word play
- not too much background noise (eg from television).

Research has also shown that babies also need (and seem to enjoy) being central to all the activities happening in their community. Some babies are held most of the day by their primary caregiver and see and feel all the activities going on around them. The adult and the baby communicate through many different types of non-verbal communication. These babies are embedded in the day-to-day activities of their communities and talk is situated around what is happening immediately in their environment (eg Rogoff et al. 1998; Schieffelin & Ochs 1998; Woodhead et al. 1998). In other communities where babies are not held all day, but rather have special spaces created for them, a lot of conversations are created, often about things that are not directly observable (see Rogoff 1990, 2003). The latter is more pervasive in families who have had parents with more than 12 years of Western schooling (Chavajay & Rogoff 1999, 2002; Correa-Chavez et al. in press; Mejia-Arauz et al. in press). In both contexts, babies need responsive, turn-taking interaction, and benefit from motherese. What is important is building upon the various strengths that the different child-rearing practices generate (see Box 2).

#### Box 2: Literacy in the home

*Example One:* Sitting on the veranda of a house, a caregiver gathers his five-month-old infant onto his lap, faces the baby out to the community, and as members of the community walk past he names them and points out their relationship to the infant. The adult then takes a sturdy book with bright images and numbers on the pages and points to the pictures and names them, turning each page with the help of the infant. A toddler notices the activity and joins in; but this time it is the toddler who points to the pictures as the adult or the toddler name them. A preschooler leans over the back of the adult, and points to each object on the page counting as she goes. The adult then points to the number and reads it to all the children. The preschooler discusses her birthday when they reach the number five.

*Example Two:* In a study designed to map family constructions of literacy and numeracy (Fleer et al. 2004) a range of everyday examples of literacy were recorded. Below are examples of literacy contexts that were actively supported by families:

#### **Intergenerational learning:**

I don't know at what age (I read) 'The Very Hungry Caterpillar'. You can get it at the library. My mother sent down from Queensland a book we as children loved, and then she put in a little message, 'You loved this book. I hope your children will, too.' It was 'Are You My Mother?' (L1)

#### Writing letters to family:

This is H writing a letter. We are over from South Australia, so we try and keep the kids in touch with family and friends. She tells me what she wants to write in her letter. I write it for her. She copies it. I teach her to keep it in line, sound out her letter. (C2)

#### **Reading the paper together:**

... we read the paper, he likes to recognise letters. He has only started in the last year really. ... Of course, reading books, with dad and me too ... (E)

#### Writing together:

... the first time a child writes her name is really special. She wrote it backwards, so I kept it. Her brother is in prep, and she likes to look at his take home book. (L1)

# Current examples of good practice in promoting early childhood learning

Variations in beliefs about what constitutes 'good', 'best' or 'effective' practice have been noted in Australia (see Fleer & Williams-Kennedy 2000), New Zealand (see Duncan 1997; Smith 1997, 1999; Smith & Barraclough 1997; Farquhar 1999a, 1999b), in the USA (Scarr et al. 1994) and in the UK (Dahlberg et al. 1999). Although there are many interesting programs designed to support young children's learning around Australia, few have been systematically researched. Nevertheless, comprehensive studies from other countries collectively demonstrate examples of pedagogical practices which support early childhood learning – many of which are relevant to Australia.

In the United Kingdom Siraj-Blatchford et al. (2002), in their extensive study of effective pedagogy in the early years (14 case studies of excellent and good centres and the reception classes as determined in previous research), found that effective centres:

- focused on cognitive interactions which lead to sustained conversations
- had teachers with sound pedagogy and subject matter knowledge
- located teacher questioning within guided play contexts
- had discipline and behaviour policies based on talking through conflict
- had home acknowledgement and involvement in learning activities.

Barnett (1995, 1997) examined the outcomes of programs, concentrating upon intelligence quotient (IQ), achievement in reading and maths, school progress and placement, and socialisation, and found positive gains for children who attended a Perry Preschool Program (teacher and child planned and initiated activities and worked together). Similarly, the National Research Council in the USA found in its review that quality programs feature:

- integrated programs (cognitive, social–emotional and physical)
- · responsive interpersonal relationships with teachers
- class size and adult-staff ratios are correlated with greater program effects
- well-planned, high-quality programs in which curriculum aims are specified and integrated across domains
- staff who are qualified, reflective, responsive and attend professional development.

The National Research Council also found that children living in circumstances that place them at risk are much more likely to succeed in school if they attend well-planned, high-quality early childhood programs.

In New Zealand, quality indicators for long-term outcomes for children have also been reported. Smith et al. (2000) have identified:

- quantity of teacher-child interaction
- secure attachments
- joint attention episodes (eg adult and infant attend to infant's gaze and interest)
- the inclusive curriculum Te Whariki (which emphasises child initiation, exploration, meaningful activities, and teacher scaffolding)
- positive and harmonious peer interaction
- sensitive and clear communication with families.

This is consistent with a best evidence synthesis on quality teaching for diverse students in schooling by Alton-Lee (2003), which found that:

- quality teaching is focused on student achievement (including social outcomes) and facilities high standards for student outcomes for heterogenous groups of students
- pedagogical practices enable class and other learning groupings to work as caring, inclusive, and cohesive learning communities
- effective links are created between school and other cultural contexts in which students are socialised, to facilitate learning
- quality teaching is responsive to student learning processes
- opportunities for learning are effective and sufficient
- multiple task contexts support learning cycles
- curriculum goals, resources including ICT usage, task design, teaching and school practices are effectively aligned
- pedagogy scaffolds and provides appropriate feedback on students' task engagement
- pedagogy promotes learning orientations, student self-regulation, metacognitive strategies and thoughtful student discourse
- teachers and students engage constructively in goal-oriented assessment
- students have secure attachments
- joint attention episodes (eg adult and infant attend to infant's gaze and interest).

Quality issues, including structural quality (eg staff-child ratios) and process quality (eg interaction with teachers) have been highlighted in the literature as significant variables when considering quality early childhood practice (Russell 1985; Smith et al. 1989; Scarr et al. 1994; Cassidy et al. 1995; McGurk et al. 1995; Kagan & Neumann 1996; Smith 1996, 1999; Danziger & Waldfogel 2000; McNaughton 2000). Overall, these findings have shown that the salary or qualifications of the staff member and the adult–child ratio both significantly influence the quality of the program.

Although it is not possible to delve into the details of the range of factors that promote early childhood learning, the areas that have consistently been mentioned in the literature are:

- predominance of cognitive interactions between children and adults that promote thinking through talking
- low staff-child ratios and group sizes with consistent relationships
- university qualified early childhood teaching staff who are responsive and reflective and understand subject knowledge
- teacher and child planned and initiated activities
- predominance of scaffolding and co-construction pedagogy
- pedagogy which promotes learning orientations, student self-regulation, metacognitive strategies and thoughtful student discourse
- genuine, sensitive and effective centre-home links.

#### Box 3: Numeracy in the home (Fleer et al. 2004)

In a study designed to map family constructions of literacy and numeracy, a range of everyday examples of numeracy were recorded. Below are examples of numeracy contexts that were actively supported by families:

#### Money:

He's counting his money from his money box (referring to photo). I let him spend his money, teach him about his money. (He must learn that) he can't have everything, and I teach him to save his money, collect and count out the pocket money ... (C1)

She likes to take her purse (when we go to the shops) and pay for it herself. She gets cross with me if I give her the right amount of money. (She says 'I didn't get the change!' Otherwise she feels she's getting ripped off. It's a big learning curve. (R)

She is counting her pocket money to see if she has enough to buy what she wants to buy. (L1)

#### **One-to-one correspondence:**

Out of the two photos – he took it that as far as he was concerned, he was allowed to take the photos – there's the family dog. But that's how we started him counting, one dog, one cat, by two and a half he was able to count to ten! (L2)

Setting the table ... S knew it was one more, who is missing, so we only need four. He has learnt to subtract ... He realises there are only two of them (children), so he will only get two cups out'. (L4)

Well the number thing, we go walking every day and they got into the habit of counting the numbers on the house and sometimes it would take us half an hour extra because we were counting. (K)

#### **Cooking – measurement**

I lost my measurement cup. I had to use a half cup. C said, 'Mum, it only says one cup, one cup ...' (L3)

#### In the car:

Like you were saying (referring to another parent) with the sign boards. And she reads then. 'Are you doing 80?' 'You need two hands on the wheel!' They start to know and tell you things. (V)

My daughter has an uncanny sense of direction. She will say we are nearly at Nannie's. We went to the snow, and she had been to Healesville Sanctuary and she recognised that. It actually blows me away sometimes, like if I go a different way she says, 'That's not right!' (K)

#### **Calculators:**

With the calculator, she is learning to add up ... So they pull it out, her and her older brother. He has taught her 7 plus 7 is 14. She is learning it herself by being with her brother. He will read to her. (C2)

Good practices in observing and planning have been published by Early Childhood Australia (see Fleer & Richardson 2004c) and the Australian Government (see DEST 2002d). Both documents draw upon sociocultural theory, and both have generated new cultural tools for observing children in early childhood settings. Rather than documenting learning by children as a static, individual and independent performance, the new tools document learning within the context of modelled, shared or independent activities within a community of learners. Previous approaches have not included the adult within the observations. However, the sociocultural approach outlined in both publications actively encourages the documentation of how the adult models practice (eg calculating ingredients when cooking with children), co-construct with children (eg jointly writing the children's names on their group recipe), and note the contexts in which children are successful learners (eg small group of children helping each other to write letters on their posters to advertise their produce at a country fair). The last reveals levels of independent competence being exhibited by individuals within the context of a meaningful and intellectually collaborative activity.

## Other recent advances in understanding development needs in early childhood

#### Implications of research for the promotion of early literacy

Makin (2004) proposes three approaches to overcoming gaps in early literacy development. Firstly, that literacy support be offered to parents who are developing their child's literacy foundations. Secondly, that effective two-way communication systems be established to link early childhood settings to the families that they service. Thirdly, that gaps between home and community literacy and school literacy practices be narrowed. (For a more comprehensive list of useful strategies to improve home/school partnerships see Makin et al. 1995, p. 112–15).

McNaughton (1995) identified three ways to support literacy development in everyday activities:

- 1 collaborative participation give and take with a more knowledgeable other
- 2 directed performance modeling and imitating
- 3 item conveyancing query and response feedback sequences.

Arthur and Makin (2001), as a direct result of a study of 79 preschools and long day-care centres in New South Wales, developed key principles of high quality literacy programs for young children. These principles include: communicating with families about literacy, building on children's home experiences, planning to support individual literacy needs, integrating literacy experiences across the curriculum, and adult–child interactions that scaffold literacy understandings.

There is a consensus among researchers from a variety of disciplines that play is highly significant in the development of young children (Hall & Robinson 2000). As Sylva (1993) has shown, guided play provides an excellent method to learn about and use literacy in purposeful and meaningful ways (Raban 2003). Neuman et al. (2000) conclude that by incorporating literacy into play children are helped to develop and extend understandings about the functions and purposes of texts.

To learn literacy, children need opportunities to see and hear, to experiment, to interact and share, and to practise and refine what they know and can do (ECLIPSE 1997). Fox (2001) argues that

sharing and constant feedback of children's initiated literacy is also considered vital to literacy development. Other studies show that young children are naturally equipped to learn language (Wood 1998); however, there are differing views as to how children become literate. What is without doubt is the importance of providing young children with a variety of meaningful, high-quality, interactive experiences during their preschool years.

An evidence-based approach to the study of early literacy has improved our understanding of how literacy develops during the preschool years, and which aspects are central to high quality initiatives and programs. Some of the studies that have added to our knowledge have focused on aspects such as:

- consistency between home and school values and experiences (Freebody & Ludwig 1995; Cairney & Rudge 1997; Makin 2004)
- understanding the function and purposes of literacy and its form (Teale & Sulzby 1986; Hall 1987; David et al. 2000)
- frequent, interactive reading (Sulzby 1985; Bus 2001)
- understanding narrative and story (Meek 1982; Fox 1993)
- de-contextualised talk (Snow 1991)
- developing oral language (Norton 1996; Dickinson & Tabors 2001)
- phonological and metalinguistic awareness (Goswami & Bryant 1990; Byrne & Fielding-Barnsley 1995; Burgess & Lonigan 1998).

However, as reported by the Centre for Community Child Health and The Smith Family (2004, p. 27):

*Currently, no single early literacy program lays claim to being the universal remedy to the challenge of long-term literacy success.* 

#### Implications of research for the promotion of early numeracy

There is a small but growing body of research which supports the view that most children, by the time they reach five years, will have developed some sense of number, patterning, and notions of fairness and fractions. Research also suggests that children will have many conversations that require the use of mathematical terms within everyday settings, but that very young children will not necessarily transfer these ideas to different contexts to solve problems. Similarly, a range of pedagogical pathways in mathematics are needed to take account of the broad range of early years experiences children have in their prior-to-school years.

Overall, the research in schools suggests (rather than provides evidence of) that children have the capacity to engage in important elements of mathematics as distilled by Bird (1991, p. 170) and shown below (Table 1):

#### Table 1Children's engagement in mathematics

Mathematics	Young children
Activities such as the making of conjectures; structuring; and deciding on rules are essential.	Young children engage naturally in these processes.
Involves one in developing mathematical ideas; questioning; exploring; initiating ideas, methods and symbols oneself; and attempting to control apparently chaotic or muddled data.	Young children are naturally eager and curious and are able to invent and sustain activities themselves.
A major concern is to be consistent.	Young children are intrigued by inconsistencies and attempt to sort them out.
Is neither bounded nor confined to the material world.	Young children can go beyond the immediate and familiar, showing imagination and an ability to make their own generalisations from particulars.
Is a challenging intellectual activity.	Young children often take tasks upon themselves which we would be wary of setting, then show determination in tackling them.
What is correct depends on the context – different decisions and assumptions can lead to different results.	Young children can appreciate that more than one answer can be right at once; questions can be ambiguous and need interpretation.
Is not rigidly compartmentalised.	Young children can become involved in a wide range of skill s and ideas within the same short space of time; they can forge a rich variety of connections and view items from different angles.
Is not a mindless activity; for example, there are sensible reasons for the introduction of notations and terminology.	Young children can work with a purpose; for example, they are capable of seeing a need for new terms and symbols and for modifying usage of familiar ones.
One can push forward one's own thinking – one does not have to keep to set methods.	When not constrained by continually having to work out and provide 'what the teacher wants' within a closed context, young children are often willing to have a go and make suggestions.

As a result of extensive research by Willis (2001, 2002) into mathematics, Willis (unpublished) has developed a set of diagnostic questions which draw to teachers' attention important aspects of young children's thinking which underpin their mathematical development.

Does the child:

- show awareness of 'sameness' and 'difference' and use this in classifying things?
- recognise repetition and use it to copy, continue and make patterns?
- distinguish numerals from other symbols and notice how they are used?
- recognise 'at a glance' how many are in small collections?
- know the basic features and uses of counting numbers?
- think of sharing as involving equal groups or amounts?
- notice, talk and use shape?
- attempt to represent obvious spatial features of things?
- understand and use simple everyday words for position and direction?
- notice and talk about the size of things?
- pay attention to length, to weight and to capacity when comparing things?
- show awareness of time?

Although only limited research has been directed to the prior-to-school period in studying mathematics, sufficient evidence does exist to guide practitioners and families in supporting children's mathematical learning.

# Current pedagogy, child development theory and philosophy in the education and care sectors

The average age of Australian teachers is 48 years (Senate 1996). As such, most Australian teachers are highly experienced with a depth of practical knowledge about teaching young children. However, this also means that most teachers completed their tertiary education qualifications 25 years ago, when theoretical emphases were grounded in interpretations of Piaget's theory of development. This legacy must be taken into account when examining contemporary early childhood theory and practice within Australia.

The dominant pedagogy supporting early childhood education practice in Australia is informed by Developmentally Appropriate Practice (DAP) (Bredekamp 1987; Bredekamp & Copple 1997), and grounded in Piaget's stage-based theory on child development, within the context of an active hands-on pedagogy. As a result, child-centred ideology enacted through individual observations and planning within Frobelian children's gardens (eg blocks, puzzles, construction kits, collage trolleys, child-sized home corner or dramatic area, child-sized tables and chairs, trestles and planks, slides, jumping mattresses) is what is seen in many early childhood centres within Australia.

However, since the mid 1990s DAP has been re-examined by scholars in the USA (see Clyde 1995; Cross 1995) and in Australia (Clyde 1995; Cross 1995; Fleer 1995). Australian researchers in early childhood education have asked whose development is being privileged (McNaughton 1995b), considering the cultural variations which make this world view problematic (Fleer 1995; Fleer & Williams-Kennedy 2002; Williams-Kennedy 2004) and have questioned previously accepted stage-based research as being the dominant perspective underpinning the theoretical and practical directions in early childhood education (Clyde 1995). As a result of this work, the status quo of early childhood practice and theory has been challenged (Fleer 2000a, 2000b, 2003a, 2003b).

Edwards (2003a, 2003b) has shown that there is a growing realisation among early childhood teachers that DAP and the work of Piaget have not fully supported them in dealing with the

complexities of teaching in the 21st century, particularly when catering for the diversity of children who attend their settings. Edwards (2003b) found that many teachers expressed ideas which illustrate a working knowledge of sociocultural theory, but used the dominant discourse or conceptual tools available to them (DAP; Piaget) to talk about curriculums. Edwards also interviewed teachers who used the principles of Reggio Emilia to inform their work with young children. In Australia, there is a small but growing number of scholars and practitioners who have visited Reggio Emilia Italy and have brought back new ideas, principles and future directions to support early childhood practice (see Millikan 2003). Edwards found that those teachers in her sample who subscribed to the beliefs and principles of Reggio Emilia had at their disposal a broader set of conceptual tools for articulating their beliefs about curriculum.

As noted by Edwards (2003a), sociocultural theory has led the charge in debunking DAP as the dominant theoretical informant in Australia. This is in line with a general worldwide trend in education (Daniels 2001, p. 1):

There is a growing interest in what has become known as 'sociocultural theory' and its near relative 'activity theory'. Both traditions are historically linked to the work of L.S. Vygotsky and both attempt to provide an account of learning and development as mediated processes.

Sociocultural theory and activity theory have both provided researchers and practitioners with 'methodological tools for investigating the processes by which social, cultural and historical factors shape human functioning' (Daniels 2001, p. 1). In the context of these theoretical perspectives, development is not seen as unfolding, but rather it is actively shaped by the social, cultural and political contexts in which humans reside. Rogoff (2003) has recently used the phrase 'the cultural nature of development' to name this perspective or as suggested by Daniels (2001, p. 14), development should be seen within the context of mediation:

'mediation' which opens the way for the development of a non-deterministic account in which mediators serve as the means by which the individual acts upon and is acted upon by social, cultural and historical factors'.

The legacy of Vygotsky's work has seen a burgeoning body of theoretical writing and new opportunities for pedagogical research in early childhood education. As Daniels (2001, p. 2) suggests:

These developments in social theory are creating new and important possibilities for practices of teaching and learning in schools and beyond. They provide us with theoretical constructs, insights and understandings which we can use to develop our own thinking about the practices of education.

Centuries of debate have been concerned with how young children think and learn, but exciting new developments are beginning to take account of Vygotsky's perspectives (Wood 1998). He valued the role of supporting dialogue in the learning process and argued that 'the capacity to learn through instruction is itself a fundamental feature of human intelligence' (Wood 1998, p. 26). Through these social experiences with more knowledgeable others, the child is able to develop understandings and cognitive transformations that spur further learning. In this sense the learning process is essentially social, but what is learned is cultural in nature (Vygotsky 1978, p. 162):

Any function in the child's cultural development appears twice, or on two planes. First it appears on the social plane, and then on the psychological plane. First it appears between people ... and then within the child.

The process by which the social becomes the psychological is called 'internalisation'. This is not the transfer of an external activity to a pre-existing internal 'plane of consciousness'; it is the process through which this plane is formed. This transformation of form is an essential part of the developmental process. As Vygotsky continues to elaborate, learning 'presupposes a specific social nature and a process by which children grow into the intellectual life of those around them.' (Vygotsky 1978 p. 88) Rogoff (1990, p. 192) further explains that it is a shared thinking process whereby the child is supported by someone more experienced. Her summation (Rogoff 1990, p. 35) of the Vygotskian view stresses that:

individual development of higher mental processes cannot be understood without considering the social roots of both the tools for thinking that children are learning to use and the social interactions that guide children in their use.

Tharp and Gallimore (1988) point out that, long before they enter school, children are learning higher order cognitive and linguistic skills. Their 'teaching' takes place in the everyday interactions of domestic life. In this informal socialisation, neither communication nor cognition is the subject of direct instruction. The pleasures of social interaction seem sufficient to lure the child into the language and cognition of the more competent care-giver.

While infants and toddlers may lack knowledge and experience, they do not lack the ability to reason. Indeed, as David et al. (2003) report, babies are seen to enter the world primed to learn curiously and competently from the sociocultural environment surrounding them. As Raban (2001, p. 33) has pointed out, 'learning is promoted and regulated by both the biology and the ecology of the child and in this sense learning drives development rather than the reverse'.

Through all of these more recent understandings, it is clear that development can no longer be viewed as the unfolding of pre-programmed patterns, but rather as shaped and spurred by experiences and these continuously transform the intellectual life of the child. Brandsford et al. (1999) and others (Chugani et al. 1987; Bruer 1997, 1999a, 1999b; Chugani 1998) illustrate how physical changes give rise to structural changes in the brain and the complexities of the synaptic linkages necessary for later learning. Not all children follow the same developmental pathways (Clay 1998; Hill et al. 1998). Yet a set of principles is emerging, identified by Raban (2001), that can support the learning and development of all children:

- build on what the child already knows and understands
- take account of the transformations that take place as a result of learning through experience
- keep a clear distinction between developing concepts and the contexts within which those concepts will be embedded.

By working from what children already know and understand, account is taken of their differing learning trajectories. The interactions between current understandings and new information will drive the transformations in socially and culturally relevant ways for each child. These relevant ways and the myriad of contexts within which authentic literacy and numeracy experiences occur during every day of children's lives lead them to enduring conceptual developments that will prepare them well for the more formal demands of schooling. According to Raban (2001, p. 33), 'learning is promoted by social and cultural norms that value this search for understanding'.

Pioneering work reported by Wood et al. (1976) observed the role of parental support in a shared task with wooden blocks. With the youngest children, the parent was principally concerned with luring the child into the task, either by demonstrating it or providing tempting material, with the parent typically intervening and being ignored. With children one year older, the parents were seen to act as verbal prodders and suggesters, even correctors. With children another year older than this, parents acted as confirmers and checkers. These researchers reported that well-executed support begins by luring the child into the actions that produce recognisable-for-them solutions. Once this is achieved, the parent can interpret discrepancies to the child. Finally, the parent stands in a confirmatory role until the child is checked out to 'fly on their own'.

In Australia, early research into mediation processes by early childhood teachers in science and technology education, for instance, drew upon Vygotsky's theory on the social formation of mind and Bruner's work on scaffolding (see Fleer 1991, 1992). This research examined the role of the adult in children's learning and focused on documenting scaffolded interactions over time in child care, preschool and the early years of school. This research foregrounded the role of the adult in children's cognition and demonstrated the importance of mediated interactions for early childhood teachers. Research in New Zealand by Jordan (1999, 2001, 2003, 2004) has built upon this original research and demonstrated the rather crude nature of the scaffolding metaphor to explain the variety of interactions that occur in early childhood centres between children and staff and among children. Jordan has used the term 'co-construction' to capture the way children and adults actively mediate learning in a collaborative manner. This research has been important for demonstrating the complexity of interaction and the range of mediation possible, thus signalling to early childhood researchers and teachers the need for further pedagogical research in childhood education. Robbins (2004) has also used sociocultural theory to frame her research and to examine data that she has gathered in extended interview contexts with individual children. This research, which is ongoing, has made explicit the shortcomings of existing early childhood research into the social formation of mind.

Patterson and Fleet (2003, p. 14) have argued that 'many people (are) ... searching for more authentic ways to record children's learning'. However, the challenge of introducing new conceptual tools has been noted by Fleer and Richardson (2003, 2004a, 2004b) and Fleer and Robbins (2003a, 2003b). They investigated how early childhood teachers incorporate sociocultural theory into their belief system and use it to inform how they frame their observations of children and develop their educational programs. Fleer and Richardson (2003, 2004a, 2004b) documented over two years the complexity of moving from the domains of learning and development to a sociocultural approach to observing children in early childhood settings. Realising new theory into practice took over 12 months, and many teachers expressed concern that what they were doing did not necessarily fit the dominant approach in early childhood education, and therefore they believed they ran the risk of their centres not being reaccredited because of not meeting standard quality assurance processes (Fleer and Richardson 2004a, 2004b). Raban et al. (2003) studied teacher beliefs and examined pedagogical practices, producing a self-assessment instrument designed to help teachers locate themselves along a theoretical, pedagogical and philosophical continuum. This ongoing research is significant as it provides a robust tool for teachers and researchers to make explicit existing approaches to early childhood education in Australia. Subsequent research will be critical for professional development.

Fleer and Robbins (2003a, 2003b, 2004) noted how the dominant approaches to early childhood education severely limited what Year 4 students studying for their Bachelor of Early Childhood Education degree could do in the field. They found that the teachers in the centres assessed the

students in the field in relation to how well they pedagogically reproduced existing practice. That is, to what degree were the student teachers copying the experienced teachers. Their study showed that it was very difficult for the student teachers to use sociocultural theory to inform their work, as the artefacts they produced (programs, observations) looked too different to the dominant approach and therefore pressure was placed on the students to change if they wished to pass their professional experience program. Although teachers welcomed the new approach to talking about practice, they were uncomfortable with the new artefacts the students produced. As Vygotsky (1978, p. 28) suggests 'Just as a mould gives shape to a substance, words can shape an activity into a structure'. The new theory produced new artefacts and ways of thinking about early childhood education which were too different to the dominant discourse and world view. As Bakhurst (1995, p. 160) suggests (cited in Daniels 2001, p. 21):

the artefact bears a certain significance which it possesses, not by virtue of its physical nature, but because it has been produced for a certain use and incorporated into a system of human ends and purposes. The object thus confronts us as an embodiment of meaning, placed and sustained in it by 'aimed-oriented' human activity.

These findings by Fleer and Robbins (2003a, 2003b, 2004) from Australia are consistent with early childhood research using sociocultural theory undertaken in English speaking countries such as the UK (eg Edwards 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002a, 2002b; Anning 2004; Siraj-Blatchford 2004; Wood 2004), New Zealand (Nuttall 2004; Cullen 2004) and the USA (Lubeck 1996, 1998).

Alongside of these theoretical discussions and ongoing research have been postmodern critiques of early childhood education. Postmodern perspectives have become increasingly influential, sparking much debate in the field and encouraging early childhood educators to question existing and taken-for-granted practices. In particular, critiques from developmental psychology about the universal nature of development resulted in a critique of the foundations of early childhood education (Dahlberg et al. 1999; Penn 2001), generating focused conferences and papers on the reconceptualisation of early childhood education.

Similarly, the mounting evidence from three decades of cross-cultural studies on young children and their families (Rogoff 1990, 1998; Woodhead et al. 1998; Göncü 1999) has provided further evidence of the shortcomings of the theoretical foundations of early childhood education. The ethnocentric nature of theories of play (Fleer 1996; Dockett & Fleer 1999), the domination of a universal framework for the development of all individuals in our culturally and linguistically diverse communities (Dahlberg et al. 1999; Siraj-Blatchford & Clarke 2000; Fleer & Williams-Kennedy 2002; Williams-Kennedy 2004), and an entrenched Western belief in the individual over the sociocultural collective (Rogoff 1998) have all been foregrounded.

Early childhood education in Australia is changing. While the dominant discourses surrounding the domains of learning and DAP have enshrined in quality assurance processes a particular world view (see Fleer & Kennedy 2000), sufficient disquiet exists for teachers to consider new theoretical perspectives. The principles of Reggio Emilia and the introduction of sociocultural theory have both generated change. Early childhood education in Australia is undergoing a paradigm shift (Edwards 2004). How these new theories and principles are applied to practice within an Australian context is yet to be determined.

### Conclusion

#### Developing early literacy and numeracy

Literacy and numeracy are primarily about access to cultural knowledge and involve a variety of symbolic thinking activities. However, literacy and numeracy experiences for young children should not be restricted to an emphasis on books and print and counting alone. Before children start to gain conventional literacy and numeracy, the fundamental symbolic skills begin to develop. The understanding that symbols represent or refer to something else develops in the toddler period. The use of symbols that include words, gestures, marks on paper and objects modelled for instance, makes it possible to represent experiences, feelings and ideas. The development of literacy and numeracy is dependent on understanding the way symbols work and using them efficiently and effectively.

Symbolic representation is at the core of language development and symbolic learning occurs whenever children create or utilise an object, symbol or role to represent an idea, feeling or process. Children purposefully learn and make sense of the complex semiotic signs and symbols of their culture (Hill 1997). In addition, the connection between symbolic thinking and early literacy and numeracy is well grounded within sociocultural theories of child development (Vygotsky 1962, 1966; Bruner & Sherwood 1981; Bruner 1893; Schrader 1990). Vygotsky (1978, as cited in Rogoff 1990, p. 35) concluded that competence with using symbols in one area should predict skill in other symbolic areas such as literacy and numeracy:

For Vygotsky, children's cognitive development must be understood not only as taking place with social support in interaction with others, but also as involving the development of skills with sociohistorically developed tools that mediate intellectual activity.

From birth, early literacy and numeracy development occurs in early social experiences and relationships, including sounds and babble, adult–baby games and interactions, listening to and enjoying songs, rhymes and taking turns. Children's early experiences include listening, talking, scribbling, drawing, painting, recognising oral language, enjoying pretend and dramatic play, dressing up, experimenting with various print and other visual media, counting, weighing, sharing and the like. Early literacy and numeracy development does not simply happen; rather, it is a social process, embedded in children's relationships with parents, grandparents, extended family members, siblings, teachers, caregivers, friends and the wider community.

## Requirements for children to develop their maximum potential for literacy and numeracy

To ensure that children are able to develop their literacy and numeracy skills to their maximum potential, children need:

- carers who interact with them frequently
- opportunities to interact with appropriate resources
- experiences of routines that are rich with meaning
- engagement with their world through talk and non-verbal communication.

### Bibliography

- Abbott-Shim M, Lambert R & McCarty R 2000, 'Structural model of Head Start classroom quality', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, vol. 15(1), pp. 115–34.
- Abreu, GD 1995, 'Understanding how children experience the relationship between home and school mathematics', *Mind, Culture and Activity*, vol. 2, pp. 1169–42.
- Alton-Lee, A 2003, *Quality of teaching for diverse students in schooling: Best evidence synthesis*, Ministry of Education, Wellington, NZ.
- Anderson, R & Freebody, P 1981, Vocabulary knowledge and reading, ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. 177470, 52 pp., Centre for the Study of Reading, University of Illinois, Champaign-Urbana, USA.
- Anning, A 2004, 'The co-construction of an early childhood curriculum', in A Anning, J Cullen & M Fleer (eds), *Early childhood education: Society and culture*, Sage Publications, London, UK.
- Anning, A & Edwards, A 1999, Promoting children's learning from birth to five. Developing the new early years professional, Open University Press, Buckingham, UK.
- Anstey, M & Bull, G 1996, The Literacy Labyrinth, Prentice Hall, Sydney, NSW.
- Armstrong, A 2001, The child and the machine, Scribe, Melbourne, Australia.
- Arthur, L & Makin, L 2001, 'High quality early literacy programs', *Australian Journal of Early Childhood*, vol. 26(2), p. 19.
- Askew, S & Carnell E 1998, *Transforming Learning: Individual and Global Change*, Cassell Publications.
- Aubrey, C 1997, *Mathematics teaching in the Early Years: An investigation of teachers' subject knowledge*, Falmer Press, London, UK.
- Aubrey, C, Bottle, G & Godfrey, R 2003, 'Early mathematics in the home and out-of-home contexts', *International Journal of Early Years Education*, vol. 11(2), pp. 91–102.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics 2000, Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, ACT.
- Australian Language and Literacy Council, 1995, *Teacher education in English language and literacy*, Australian Government Publishing Service, ACT, Australia.
- Baker, L, Sonnenschein, S, Serpell, R, Scher, D et al. 1996 'Early literacy at home: Children's experiences and parents' perspectives', *The Reading Teacher*, vol. 50(1), pp. 70–2.
- Barnett, WS 1995, 'Long term effects of early childhood programs on cognitive and school outcomes', *The Future of Children*, vol. 5(3), pp. 25–30.
- Barnett, WS 1997, 'Long-term effects of early childhood programs on cognitive and school outcomes', *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 27, pp. 204–7.

Barratt-Pugh, C & Rohl, M 1994, 'A question of either or: Must fluency in English be achieved at the expense of home languages?', *Australian Journal of Language and Literacy*, vol. 17(4), pp. 313–26.

Barratt-Pugh, C & Rohl, M 2000, Literacy learning in the early years, Allen & Unwin, Australia.

- Becker, HJ 2000, 'Who's wired and who's not: Children's access to and use of computer technology', *The future of children: Children and computer technology*, vol. 10(2), pp. 44–75.
- Becker, JP & Selter, C 1996, 'Elementary school practices', in AJ Bishop, K Clements, C Keitel, J Kilpatrick & C Laborde (eds), *International handbook of mathematics education*, pp. 511–64, Kluwer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.
- Berrueta-Clements, JR, Schweinhart, LJ, Barnett, WS, Epstein, AS & Weikart, DP 1984, *Changed lives: The effects of the Perry pre-school programme on youths through age 19*, The High/Scope Press, Ypsilanti, Michigan, USA.
- Bialystock, ER 1997, 'Effects of bilingualism on children's emerging concepts of print', *Developmental Psychology*, vol. 33, pp. 121–132.
- Biddulph, F, Biddulph J & Biddulph C 2003, The complexity of community and family influences on children's achievement in New Zealand: Best evidence synthesis, Ministry of Education, Wellington, NZ.
- Bird, MH 1991, Mathematics for young children, Routledge, London, UK.
- Blackburn, M 2003, 'Boys and literacies: What difference does gender make?', *Reading Research Quarterly*, vol. 38(2), pp. 276.
- Bobis, J & Gould, P 1999a, 'The impact of an early number project in the professional development of teachers', paper presented at the 21st Annual Conference of the Mathematics Education Research Group of Australasia, Brisbane, Australia.
- Bobis, J & Gould, P 1999b, 'The mathematical achievement of children in the Count Me In Too Program', paper presented at the 22nd annual conference of the Mathematics Education Research Group of Australasia, Sydney, Australia.
- Bobis, J & Gould, P 2000, 'Changing the professional knowledge of teachers', paper presented at the 23rd Annual Conference of the Mathematics Educational Research Group of Australasia, Perth, Australia.
- Bobis, J, Mulligan, J, Lowrie, T & Taplin, M 1999, *Mathematics for children: Challenging children to think mathematically*, Prentice Hall, Sydney, Australia.
- Boocock, SS 1995, 'Early childhood programs in other nations: Goals and outcomes', *The Future of Children*, vol. 5(3), pp. 94–115.
- Boulton-Lewis, G, Wilss, L & Mutch, S 1996, 'An analysis of young children's strategies and devices for length measurement', *Journal of Mathematical Behaviour*, vol. 15 (3), pp. 329–47.

- Bowman, BT 2001, *Eager to learn. Educating our pre-schoolers*, National Research Council, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- Brandsford, JD, Brown, AL & Cocking, RR (eds) 1999, *How people learn: Brain, mind, and school*, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- Bredekamp, S 1987, *Developmentally appropriate practice in early childhood education programs. Serving children from birth through aged 8*, National Association for the Education of Young Children, Washington, DC, USA.
- Bredekamp, S & Copple C 1997, *Developmentally appropriate practice in early childhood education programs* (revised edn), National Association for the Education of Young Children, Washington, DC, USA.
- Brozo, WG 2002, *To be a boy, to be a reader: Engaging teen and preteen boys in active literacy,* International Reading Association, Newark, USA.
- Bruer, JT 1997, 'Education and the brain: A bridge too far away', *Educational Researcher*, vol. 26(8), pp. 4–16.
- Bruer, JT 1999a, 'In search of ... brain based education', Phi Delta Kappan (May) pp. 694-57.
- Bruer, JT 1999b, 'Neural connections: Some you use, some you lose', *Phi Delta Kappan* (December), pp. 258–64.
- Bruner, JS 1983, Child's talk: Learning to use language, Norton, New Jersey, USA.
- Bruner, J 1986, Actual minds, possible worlds, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA, USA.
- Bruner, JS & Sherwood, A 1976, 'Peekaboo and the learning of rule structures', in JS Bruner, A Jolly & K Sylva (eds), *Play: Its role in development and evolution*, Penguin, Harmondsworth, UK.
- Bruner, JS & Sherwood, V 1981, 'Thought, language and interaction in infancy', in JP Forgas (ed), *Social cognition*, pp 27–52, Academic Press, London, UK.
- Bull, A 1996, The literacy labyrinth, Prentice Hall, Australia.
- Burgess, S & Lonigan, C 1998, 'Bidirectional relations of phonological sensitivities and prereading abilities: Evidence from a pre-school sample', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, vol. 82, pp. 117–41.
- Burgess, Sr., Hecht, SA & Lonigan, CJ 2002, 'Relations of the home literacy environment (HLE) to the development of reading abilities: A one-year longitudinal study' *Reading Research Quarterly*, vol. 37(4), pp. 408–26.
- Bus, A 2001, 'Joint caregiver child storybook reading: A route to literacy development', in S Neuman & D Dickinson (eds), *Handbook of early literacy research*, The Guildford Press, New York, USA.
- Butler, D 1979, Cushla and Her Books, Hodder & Stoughton, Auckland, New Zealand.

- Byrne, B & Fielding-Barnsley, R 1995, 'Evaluation of a program to teach phonemic awareness to young children: A 2 and 3 year follow up and a new pre-school trial', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, vol. 87, pp. 488–503.
- Cairney, T 1994, 'Family literacy: Moving towards new partnerships in education', *Australian Journal of Language and Literacy*, vol. 17(4), pp. 262–75.
- Cairney, TH & Rudge, J 1997, 'Reconstructing Teacher Views on Parent Involvement in Children's Literacy', in D Taylor (ed.), *Many families, Many Literacies an International declaration of principles*, Heinemann Press, New Hampshire, p. 24.
- Campbell, FA & Ramey, CT 1994, 'Effects of early intervention on intellectual and academic achievement: A follow-up study of children from low-income families', *Child Development*, vol. 65, pp. 684–98.
- Cassidy, DJ, Buell, MJ, Pugh-Hoese, S & Russell S 1995, 'The effect of education on child care teachers' beliefs and classroom quality: Year One evaluation of the TEACH Early Childhood Associate Degree Scholarship program', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, vol. 10, pp. 171–83.
- Caughty, MO, DiPietro, J & Strobino, M 1994, 'Day-care participation as a protective factor in the cognitive development of low-income children', *Child Development*, vol. 65, pp. 457–71.
- Centre for Community Child Health 2000, *Sharing a picture of children's development*, Australian Diary Corporation, Melbourne.
- Centre for Community Child Health and The Smith Family 2004, *Let's read: Literature review*, Unpublished manuscript, Melbourne, Vic.
- Chavajay, P & Rogoff, B 1999, 'Cultural variation in management of attention by children and their caregivers', *Developmental Psychology*, vol. 35, pp. 1079–90
- Chavajay, P & Rogoff, B 2002, 'Schooling and traditional collaborative social organization of problem solving by Mayan mothers and children', *Developmental Psychology*, vol. 38 (1), pp. 55–66.
- Cherland, M 1994, Private practices: *Girls Reading Fiction and Constructing Reality*, Taylor & Francis, London, UK.
- Chugani, H 1998, 'A critical period of brain development: Studies of cerebral glucose utilization with PET', *Preventive Medicine*, vol. 27, pp. 184–88.
- Chugani, H, Phelps, ME & Mazziota, JC 1987, Positron emission tomography study of human brain function development, *Annals of Neurology*, vol. 22, pp. 487–97.
- Ciupryk, F 1998, 'Assessing mathematical understanding in the early years of school', paper presented at the 22nd OMEP World Congress, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Clark M 1976, *Young fluent readers: what can they teach us*? Heinemann Educational Books, London, p. 19.

Clarke, C 1992, 'Check you later calculator?', Prime Number, vol. 7(2), p. 15.

- Clay, M 1998, By different paths to common outcomes, Stenhouse Publishers, Maine, USA.
- Clay, M 2001, Change over time in children's literacy development, Heinemann, New Zealand.
- Clements, DH, Nastas, BK & Swaminathon, S 1993, 'Young children and computers: Crossroads and directions from research', *Young Children*, vol. 48(2), pp. 56–64.
- Clyde, M 1995, 'Concluding the debate: Mind games what DAP means to me', in M Fleer (ed.), *DAP centreism: Challenging developmentally appropriate practices*, Australian Early Childhood Association, ACT, Australia.
- Cobb, P & Bauerfeld, H (eds), 1995, *The emergence of mathematical meaning: Interaction in classroom cultures*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, New Jersey, USA.
- Commonwealth of Australia 1999, *Pathways to prevention: Developmental and early intervention approaches to crime in Australia*, Attorney-General's Office, ACT, Australia.
- Commonwealth of Australia 2003, *Towards a national agenda for early childhood*, Commonwealth Task Force on Child Development, Health and Wellbeing, ACT, Australia.
- Copley, JV 2000, *The young child and mathematics*, National Association for the Education of Young Children, Washington, DC, USA.
- Cordes, C & Miller, E (eds), 2000, *Fool's gold: A critical look at computers in childhood*, Alliance for Childhood, College Park, Maryland, USA.
- Correa-Chavez, M, Rogoff, B & Mejia-Arauz, R, in press, 'Cultural patterns in attending to two events at once', *Child Development*.
- Cross, T 1995, 'The early childhood curriculum debate', in M Fleer (ed.), *DAPcentrism: Challenging developmentally appropriate practices*, Australian Early Childhood Association, ACT, Australia.
- Cullen, J 2000, 'The early years conceptual issues and future challenges', *New Zealand Research in Early Childhood Education*, vol. 3, pp. 3–11.
- Cullen, J 2004, 'Adults co-constructing knowledge', in A Anning, J Cullen & M Fleer (eds), *Early childhood education: Society and culture*, Sage Publications, London, UK.
- Cunningham, A & Stanovich, K 1997, 'Early reading acquisition and its relation to reading experience and ability 10 years later', *Developmental Psychology*, vol. 33(6), pp. 934–5.
- Dahlberg, G, Moss, P & Pence, A 1999, *Beyond quality in early childhood education and care*. *Postmodern perspectives*, Falmer Press, London, UK.
- Daniels, H 2001, Vygotsky and pedagogy, Routledge, London, UK.
- Danziger, S & Waldfogel, J 2000, 'Investing in children: What do we know? What should we do?', *Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion Paper 34*, London School of Economics, London, UK.

- David, T, Goouch, K, Powell, S & Abbott, L 2003, *Birth to threematters: A review of the literature*. Research report 444, Department for Education and Skills, London.
- David, T, Raban, B, Ure, C, Goouch, K et al. 2000, *Making sense of early literacy: A practitioner's perspective*, Trentham Books, Stoke on Trent, UK.
- Davies, M & Pollnitz, L 1993, 'Induction into the teaching profession: Participants' perception of professional development during an internship', paper presented at the 5th National Practicum Conference, Sydney.
- De Lemos, M, 1999, 'Sessional preschool versus full time primary: Equitable provision for four-year olds', paper presented at the Invitational Conference on Transition to School: Australian Research and Practice, 30–31 October, Sydney, Australia.
- Department of Education and Children's Services, South Australia, 1996, Foundation areas of learning: curriculum framework for early childhood settings, Adelaide, Australia.
- DEST (Department of Education, Science and Training) 2000, *What works: The work program: Improving outcomes for Indigenous students – The workbook*, Canberra, Australia.
- DEST (Department of Education, Science and Training) 2002a, *Raising the standards*, Canberra, Australia.
- DEST (Department of Education, Science and Training) 2002b, *Review of the Commonwealth languages other than English programme*, Canberra, Australia.
- DEST (Department of Education, Science and Training) 2002c, *What works: The work program: Improving outcomes for Indigenous students – The guidebook*, Canberra, Australia.
- DEST (Department of Education, Science and Training) 2002d, *The preschool profile, Assessment Sheets and Information Booklet*, Canberra, Australia.
- DEST (Department of Education, Science and Training) 2003, Using the preschool profile, Video and guide, Canberra, Australia.
- Department of Education, Tasmania 1997, *Flying start program*, http://www.eod.tased.edu.au/lauderdale/SchPubs/FlyingSt.htm.
- Department of Education, Tasmania 2004, *Essential connections: A guide to young children's learning*, Tasmania, Australia.
- DETYA (1998), Selected Higher Education statistics, Canberra, Australia.
- DETYA (Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs) 2000a, *The Impact of Educational Research*, Canberra, Australia.
- DETYA (Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs) 2000b, *National Indigenous English literacy and numeracy strategy*, Canberra, Australia.
- DETYA (Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs) 2000c, Numeracy, a priority for all: Challenges for Australian schools: Commonwealth numeracy policies for Australian Schools, Canberra, Australia.

- DETYA (Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs) 2000d, *What has worked (and what will work again): The IESIP strategic results project*, Canberra, Australia.
- DETYA (Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs) 2000e, *What works? Explorations in improving outcomes for Indigenous students*, Canberra, Australia.
- Dickinson, DK & Tabors, PO 2002, 'Fostering language and literacy in classrooms and homes: Supporting language learning', *Young Children*, vol. 57(2), pp. 10–18.
- Dickinson, D & Tabors, P 2001, *Beginning literacy with language: Young children learning at home and at school*, Paul Brookes, Baltimore, USA.
- Dockett, S & Fleer, M 1999, *Play and pedagogy in early childhood*, Harcourt Brace, Marrickville, Australia.
- Doig, B, McCrae, B, & Rowe, K, 2002, A good start to numeracy. Effective numeracy strategies for research and practice in early childhood, Commonwealth Department of Education, Science and Training: Australia.
- Duncan, J 1997, 'Implications of quality research for practice', paper presented at the seminar Quality Contexts for Children's Development, 12 March, Invercargill, UK.
- Durkin, K, Shire, B, Riem, R, Crowther, RD & Rutter, DR 1986, 'The social and linguistic context of early number word use', *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, vol. 4, pp. 269–99.
- ECLIPSE 1997, *Early childhood includes parents, staff and education, Literacy in early childhood*, Department for Education and Children's Services, South Australia.
- Edwards, A 1999, 'Shifting relationships with research in a school-university research partnership: A sociocultural analysis', paper presented at the British Educational Research Association Annual Conference.
- Edwards, A 2000, 'Research and practice: Is there a dialogue?' in H Penn (ed.), *Early childhood Services: Theory, policy and practice*, Open University Press, Buckingham, UK.
- Edwards, A 2001, 'Researching pedagogy: A sociocultural agenda', *Pedagogy, Culture and Society*, vol. 9(2), pp. 161–86.
- Edwards, A 2002a, 'Developing understandings of agency and disposition in sociocultural accounts of learning to teach', paper presented at the British Educational Research Association (BERA) invited symposium, AERA Annual Conference, New Orleans, USA.
- Edwards, A 2002b, 'Contriving the formation of professional minds: Conflicting cultures in the preparation of beginning teachers', paper presented at the AERA Annual Conference, New Orleans, USA.
- Edwards, C, Gandini, L & Forman, G (eds) 1993, *The hundred languages of children*, Ablex, New Jersey.

- Edwards, S 2003a, 'New directions: Charting the paths for the role of sociocultural theory in early childhood education and curriculum', *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, vol. 4(3), pp. 251–66.
- Edwards, S 2003b, 'The curriculum is ... Early childhood educators' conceptions of curriculum and developmentally appropriate practice. A comparative study case study across two Victorian early childhood educational settings, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia.
- Edwards, S 2004, 'Talking about a revolution: Paradigmatic change in early childhood education: From developmental sociocultural theory and beyond', unpublished paper, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia.
- Eimas et al. 1971, 'Speech perception in infants', Science 171, pp. 303-5.
- Elkind, D 1996, 'Young children and technology: A cautionary note', *Young Children*, vol. 31(64), pp. 22–3.
- Erebus Consulting Partners 2002, *Review of the Commonwealth Languages other than English program report to DEST*, at http://infocat.dest.gov.au/IE/.
- Evans C, Falkner, R & Leijaa, A 2000, *Maths links teaching the NCTM 2000 standards through Childrens Literature*, Greenwood Press,
- Ezell, HK, Gonzales, MD & Randolph, E 2000, 'Emergent literacy skills of migrant Mexican-American preschoolers', *Communication Disorders Quarterly*, vol. 21(3), pp. 147–53.
- Farquhar, S 1999a, 'Research and the production of 'worthwhile' knowledge about quality in early years education', paper presented at the Australian Association for Research in Education–New Zealand Association for Research in Education Annual Conference, Melbourne, Australia.
- Farquhar, S 1999b, 'The trouble with 'quality': The First Years', *New Zealand Journal of Infant and Toddler Education*, vol. 1(1), pp. 10–14.
- Fleer, M 1991, Early childhood science education: The teaching-learning process as scaffolding for conceptual change, PhD thesis, University of Queensland, Australia.
- Fleer, M 1992, 'From Piaget to Vygotsky: Moving into a new era of early childhood education', in Lambert, B (ed.), *The changing face of early childhood*, AECA, ACT, Australia.
- Fleer, M (ed.) 1995, *DAPcentrism: Challenging Developmentally Appropriate Practices*, AECA, ACT, Australia.
- Fleer, M 1996, 'Theories of 'play'. Are they ethnocentric or inclusive?' *Australian Journal of Early Childhood*, vol. 21(4), pp. 12–18.
- Fleer, M 2002a, 'Sociocultural assessment in early years education myth or reality?', International Journal of Early Years Education, vol. 10(2), pp. 105–20.
- Fleer, M 2002b, 'Sociocultural theory: Rebuilding the theoretical foundations of early childhood education' *Delta, Policy and Practice in Education*, vol. 54(1), pp. 105–20.

- Fleer, M 2003a, 'Post Vygotskian narratives: What is and what could be?', *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, vol. 11(1), pp. 1–15.
- Fleer, M 2003b, 'Early childhood education as an evolving 'community of practice' or as lived 'social reproduction': Researching the taken-for-granted', *Contemporary issues in Early Childhood*, vol. 4(1), pp. 64–79.
- Fleer, M & Kennedy, A 2000, 'Quality Assurance: Whose quality and whose assurance?', *New Zealand Journal of Early Childhood Education*, vol. 3, pp. 6–12.
- Fleer, M & Richardson, C 2003, 'Collective mediated assessment: Moving towards a sociocultral approach to assessing children's learning', *Journal of Australian Research in Early Childhood Education*, vol. 10(1), pp. 41–55.
- Fleer, M & Richardson, C 2004a, 'Moving from a constructivist–developmental framework for planning to a sociocultural approach: Foregrounding the tension between individual and community', *Journal of Australian Research in Early Childhood Education*, vol. 11(2), pp. 70–87.
- Fleer, M & Richardson, C 2004b, 'Mapping the transformation of understanding', in A Anning, J Cullen & M Fleer (eds), *Early childhood education: Society and culture*, Sage Publications, London, UK.
- Fleer, M & Richardson, C 2004c, *Observing and planning in early childhood settings: Using a sociocultural approach*, Early Childhood, Australia, Canberra, ACT.
- Fleer, M & Robbins, J 2003a, "'Yeah that's what they teach you at uni, it's just rubbish": The participatory appropriation of new cultural tools as early childhood student teachers move from a developmental to a sociocultural framework for observing and planning', paper presented at the Australian Research in Early Childhood Education Conference, 23–24 January, Melbourne, Australia.
- Fleer, M & Robbins, J 2003b, 'Student teachers as leaders of teacher re-newal: The participatory appropriation of sociocultural practices by student teachers in the school context of an archival belief system', paper presented at the International Council on Education for Teaching World Assembly/Australian Teacher Education Association Annual Conference, Melbourne, Australia.
- Fleer, M & Robbins, J 2004, 'Learning the landscapes: A sociocultural analysis of family enactments of literacy and numeracy within the official script of middle class early childhood discourse', paper presented at the International Society for Cultural & Activity Research, Wollongong, Australia.
- Fleer, M & Williams-Kennedy, D 2002, *Building bridges: Literacy development for young Indigenous children*, AECA, ACT, Australia.
- Fleer, M, Robbins, A & Ridgway, A 2004, 'There is much more to this literacy and numeracy than you realise: Family enactments of literacy and numeracy versus educators' constructions of learning in home contexts', paper presented at the Australian Research in Early Childhood Education Conference, 21–23 January, Monash University, Melbourne.

- Fox, C 1993, At the very Edge of the Forest: The influence of literature on the storytelling of children, Cassell, London, UK.
- Fox, M 2001, *Reading magic: How your child can learn to read before school and other readaloud miracles*, Pan McMillian, Sydney, Australia.
- Freebody, P & Ludwig, C 1995, Everyday literacy practices in and out of schools in low socioeconomic urban communities (vol. 1), Department of Employment, Education and Training Centre for Literacy Education Research, Queensland, Australia.
- Gilbert, P 1989, *Gender, literacy and the classroom*, Australian Reading Association, Melbourne, Australia.
- Ginsburg, HP 2000, 'Children's minds and developmentally appropriate goals of preschool mathematics', paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, USA.
- Ginsburg, HP, Posner JK & Russell, RL 1981, 'The development of mental addition as a function of culture and schooling', *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, vol. 12, pp. 163–78.
- Göncü, A (ed.) 1999, *Children's engagement in the world*. Sociocultural perspectives, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Goodman, Y 1986, 'Coming to know literacy', in W Teale & E Sulzby (eds), *Emergent literacy: Writing and reading*, Ablex, New Jersey, USA.
- Gopnik, A, Meltzokk, AN & Khul, PK 1999, *The scientist in the crib: Minds, brains and how children learn*, Harper Collins, New York.
- Goswami, U & Bryant, P 1990, *Phonological skills and learning to read*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hove, UK.
- Graham, TA, Nash, C & Paul, K 1997, 'Young children's exposure to mathematics: The child care context', *Early Childhood Education Journal*, vol. 25 (1), pp. 31–8.
- Gregory, E 1994, 'Cultural assumptions and early years' pedagogy: The effect of the home culture on minority children's interpretation of reading in school', *Language, Culture and Curriculum*, vol. 7(2), pp. 111–24.
- Griffiths, R 1994, 'Mathematics and play', in J Moyles (ed.), *The excellence of play*, Open University Press, Buckingham, UK.
- Groves, S & Cheesman, J 1992, 'Calculators in primary mathematics. Changing expectations and curriculum issues', paper presented at the Joint Conference of the Australian Association for Research in Education and the New Zealand Association for Research in Education, Geelong, Australia.
- Groves, S & Cheeseman, J 1995, 'Beyond expectations: Using calculators with young children', *Set 1*, New Zealand Folio, New Zealand.

- Guberman, SR 1999, 'Supportive environments for cognitive development: Illustrations from children's mathematical activities outside of school', in A Göncü (ed.), *Children's Engagement in the World: Sociocultural perspectives*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Hakuta, K 1986 Mirror of Language: The debate on bilingualism Basic Books, New York.
- Hakuta, K & Pease-Alvarez, L 1992, 'Enriching our views of bilingualism and bilingual education, *Education Researcher*, vol. 21(2), pp. 4–6.
- Hall, C & Coles, M 1997, 'Gendered readings: Helping boys develop as critical readers', *Gender* and Education, vol. 9, pp. 61–8.
- Hall, N 1987, The Emergence of Literacy, Hodder & Stoughton, London, UK.
- Hall, N & Robinson, A 2000, 'Play and literacy learning', in C Barratt-Pugh & M Rohl (eds), *Literacy learning in the early years*, Allen & Unwin, Australia.
- Halsall, S & Green, C 1995, 'Reading aloud: A way for parents to support their children's growth in literacy', *Early Childhood Education Journal*, vol. 23(1), pp. 27–31.
- Hannon, P 1995, *Literacy, home & school: Research and practice in teaching literacy with parents*, The Falmer Press, UK.
- Hannon, P 1996, 'School is too late: Preschool work with parents', in S Wolfendale & K Topping (eds), *Family involvement in literacy*, Cassell, London, UK.
- Hannon, P & James, S 1990, 'Parents' and teachers' perspectives on preschool literacy development', *British Educational Research Journal*, vol. 16(3), pp. 259–72.
- Hannon, P, Weinberger, J & Nutbrown, C 1991, 'A study of work with parents to promote early literacy development', *Research Papers in Education*, vol. 6(2), pp. 77–97.
- Hart, B & Risley, T 1995, *Meaningful Differences in Everyday Parenting & Intellectual Development in Young children*, Brookes, Baltimore, USA.
- Hawkes, J 1992, 'Check you later calculator?', Prime Number, vol. 7(1), p. 16.
- Healy, JM 1998, Failure to connect: How computers affect our children's minds, for better or for worse, Simon & Schuster, New York, USA.
- Heath, S 1983, *Ways with words: Language, life and work in communities and classrooms,* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Hill, S 1997, 'Perspectives on early literacy home-school connections', *Australian Journal of Language and Literacy*, vol. 20(4), pp. 263–79.
- Hill, S, Comber, S, Louden, BW, Rivalland, J & Reid, J, 1998, 100 children go to school. Connections and disconnections in literacy development in the year prior to school and the first year of school, vols 1–3, DETYA, Canberra.
- Hughes, M 1986, Children and number, Basil Blackwell, Oxford, UK.

- HRSCEET 1993, The literacy challenge: A report on strategies for Early Intervention for literacy and learning for Australian Children, AGPS, Canberra.
- Huttenlocher, J, Haight, W, Bryk, A, Seltzer, M, & Lyons, T 1991, 'Early vocabulary growth: Relation to language input and gender', *Developmental Psychology*, vol. 17, pp. 236–48.
- Jennings, P 2003, The Reading Bug, Penguin, Sydney, Australia.
- Johnson, D & Walker, T 1991, 'A follow-up of evaluation of the Houston Parent Child Development Centre: School performance', *Journal of Early Intervention*, vol. 15(3), pp. 226–36.
- Jordan, B 1999, 'Planning of children's thinking in early childhood', paper presented at the 11th Australasian Human Development Association Conference, 6–9 July, Sydney, Australia.
- Jordan, B 2001, 'Research and reality', paper presented at the World Forum on Early Childhood Education and Development, 24–24 April, Athens, Greece.
- Jordan, B 2003, 'Professional development in making a difference for children: Co-constructing understandings in early childhood centres', PhD thesis, Massey University, New Zealand.
- Jordan, B 2004, 'Scaffolding learning and co-constructing understandings', in A Anning, J Cullen & M Fleer (eds), *Early childhood education: Society and culture*, Sage Publications, London, UK.
- Kagan, SL & Neumann, MJ 1996, 'The relationship between staff education and training and quality in child care programs', *Child Care Information Exchange*, vol. 107, pp. 65–70.
- Karmiloff, K & Karmiloff-Smith, A 2001, *Pathways to language: From fetus to adolescent*, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, USA.
- Kenner, C, et al. 2004, 'Revealing invisible worlds: connecting the mainstram with bilingual children's home and community learning', *Journal of Early Childhood Literacy*, vol.2 (2), Sage Publications, London, UK.
- Kohl, B 1989, 'Brain development, plasticity and development, *American Psychologist*, vol. 44(9), pp. 1203–12.
- Landerholm, E et al. 2000, 'A collaborative approach to family literacy evaluation strategies', *Early Child Development and Care*, vol. 162, pp. 65–79.
- Lennox, S 1995, 'Sharing books with children', *Australian Journal of Early Childhood*, vol. 20(1), pp. 12–16.
- LoBianco, J & Freebody, P 2001, Australian literacies: Informing national policy on literacy education, Language Australia, Melbourne, Australia.
- Lubeck, S 1996, 'Deconstructing "child development knowledge" and "teacher preparation", *Early Education and Development*, vol. 2(2), pp. 138–64.
- Lubeck, S 1998, 'Is developmentally appropriate practice for everyone?', *Childhood Education*, vol. 74(5), pp. 283–98.

- Lunenburg, FC & Irby, BJ 1999, *High expectations: An action plan for implementing goal 2000*, Corwin Press, California, USA.
- Makin, L, Campbell, J & Jones Diaz, C 1995, *One childhood many languages: Guidelines for early childhood education in Australia*, Harper Educational: Sydney, Australia.
- Makin, L & Jones Diaz, C 2002, *Literacies in early childhood: Changing views challenging practices*, Maclennan & Petty, NSW, Australia.
- Makin, L & Spedding, S 2001, *Evaluation Report 1997–2001*, Children & Education Research Centre, The University of Newcastle, Australia.
- Makin, L & Spedding, S 2003, 'Cause they trust their parents, don't they? Supporting literacy in the first three years of life', *Journal of Australian Research in Early Childhood Education*, Vol 10(2), pp. 39–49.
- Makin, L & Whitehead, M 2004, How to develop early literacy, Sage Publications, London, UK.
- Makin, L, Hayden, J, Holland, A, Arthur, L, Beecher, B, Jones Diaz, C & McNaught, M 1999, Mapping literacy practices in early childhood services, University of Newcastle, New South Wales.
- Makin, L, Haydon, J & Jones Diaz, C 2000, 'Factors affecting the provision of high quality literacy programs in early childhood classrooms: An Australian case study', *Childhood Education: Infancy Through Early Adolescence*, vol. 76(6), pp. 368–73.
- Mandel Morrow, L 2003/2004, 'Family literacy: Home and school working together', *Reading Today*, vol. 21(3), pp. 6–7.
- Mannigel, D 1992, Young children as mathematicians: theory and practice of teaching mathematics, Social Science Press, NSW, Australia.
- Masters, G 1997, Literacy standards in Australia, DEETYA, Canberra, Australia.
- Maynard, T 2002, Boys and literacy: Exploring the issues, Routledge Falmer, London, UK.
- McArthur, A 1995, 'Sources of stress on non-traditional students', in *Texas Home Economist, Home Economics Research*, issue 60.
- McCain, M & Mustard, JF 1999, *Early years study: Reversing the real brain drain*, Final report to the Government of Ontario, Toronto, Canada.
- McNaughton, G 1995a, *Patterns of emergent literacy*, Oxford University Press, Melbourne, Australia.
- McNaughton, G 1995b, 'A post-structuralist analysis of learning in early childhood settings', in M Fleer (ed.), *DAPcentrism: Challenging developmentally appropriate practices*, AECA, Canberra, Australia.
- McNaughton, G 2000, *The Tasmanian early childhood review: Towards a future vision*, Final Report for the Department of Education, Tasmania, Australia.

- MCEETYA 2001, *National framework for rural and remote education*, DEETYA, Taskforce on Remote and Rural Education, Canberra, Australia.
- McGurk, H, Mooney, A, Moss, P, & Poland, G 1995, *Staff-child ratios in care and education services for young children*, HMSO, London.
- Meek, M 1982, Learning to read, The Bodley Head, London, UK.
- Mejia-Arauz, R, Rogoff, B & Paradise, R, 'Cultural variation in children's observation during demonstration', Unpublished paper.
- Melhuish, E 2000, 'Social/behavioural and cognitive development at 3–4 years in relation to family background, The Effective Provision of Pre-school Education (EPPE) Project', paper presented at the TPPE Symposium at the British Educational Research Association (BERA) Conference, 7–9 September, Cardiff, UK.
- Millard, E 1997, *Differently literate: Boys, girls and the schooling of literacy*, Falmer Press, London, UK.
- Millikan, J 2003, *Reflections: Reggio Emilia principles within Australian contexts*, Pademelon Press, NSW, Australia.
- Ministry of Education, NZ 1996, *Te Whaariki: Early childhood curriculum*, Learning Media, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Murray, L & Andrews, L 2000, The Social Baby, CP Publishing, Surrey, UK.
- National Council of Teachers of Mathematics 2000, *Principles and standards for school mathematics*, NCTM, Reston, VA, USA.
- NEEF 2001, Bridging the gap between the haves and have nots: Report of the National Education and Employment Forum, Australian Council of the World Education Fellowship, Queensland, Australia.
- Neuman, S, Copple, C, & Bredekamp, S 2000, *Learning to read and write: developmentally appropriate practice for young children*, National Association for the Education of Young Children, Washington, DC, USA.
- Neuman, S & Roskos, K 1997, 'Literacy knowledge in practice: Contexts of participation for young writers and readers,' *Reading Research Quarterly*, vol. 32(1), pp. 10–32.
- New South Wales Department of Education and Training 2000, *Count Me In, Professional development package*, NSWDET, Sydney, Australia.
- Norton, D 1996, 'Early linguistic interaction and school achievement: An ethnographical, ecological perspective', *Zero to Three*, vol. Dec 1995/Jan 1996, pp. 8–13.
- North, J & Davies, M 1989, 'School entry: Teachers' reaction to policy changes', *Early Development and Childcare*.
- Nunes, T, Schliemann, AD & Carraher, DW 1993, *Street mathematics and school mathematics*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

- Nuttall, J 2003, 'Influences on the co-construction of the teacher role in the early childhood curriculum: Some examples from a NZ childcare centre', *International Journal of Early Years Education*, vol. 16(1), pp. 23–35.
- Nuttall, J 2004, 'Why don't you ask someone who cares? Teacher identity, intersubjectivity and curriculum negotiation in a New Zealand childcare centre', PhD thesis, Victorian College of Education, New Zealand.
- Ochlitree, G & Moore, T 2002, *Best Start. Evidence based project. The evidence base underlying investment in early years*, Department of Human Services, Centre for Community Child Health, Victoria.
- Paley, V 1981, Wally's stories, Harvard University Press, USA.
- Patterson, C & Fleet, A 2003, 'Meaningful planning. Rethinking teaching and learning partnerships', *Research in Practice Series*, vol. 10(1), pp. 1–18.
- Paulson, LH & Kelly, KL 2004, 'The effects of an early reading curriculum on language and literacy development of Head Start children', *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, vol. 18(3), pp. 169–80.
- Penn, H 2001, *Early childhood services. Theory, policy and practice*, Open University Press, Buckingham, UK.
- Perry, B & Conroy, J 1994, *Early childhood and primary mathematics: A participative text for teachers*, Harcourt Brace, Sydney, Australia.
- Perry, B & Dockett, S 1998, 'Play, argumentation and social constructivism', *Early Childhood Development and Care*, vol. 9(1), pp. 62–73.
- Perry, B & Dockett, S 2002, 'Early childhood numeracy', *Journal of Australian Research in Early Childhood Education*, vol. 9(1), pp. 62–73.
- Piannfetti, E 2001, 'Teachers and technology: Digital literacy through professional development', *Language Arts*, vol. 78(3), pp. 255–62.
- Pinker, S 1995, 'Language Acquistion', in LGeitman & M Liberman (eds), *Language An Invitation Cognitive Sciences*, vol. 1, MIT Press, Cambridge, USA.
- Plowman, L & Stephen, C 2003, 'A benign addiction? Research on ICT and pre-school children', *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, vol. 19, pp. 149–64.
- Powell, B 1996, 'Children taking the lead', *Australian Primary Mathematics Classroom*, vol. 11(1), pp. 4–7.
- Purcell-Gates, V 1995, *Other people's worlds: The cycle of low literacy*, Harvard University Press, USA.
- Queensland School Curriculum Council 1998, *Preschool curriculum guidelines*, Queensland School Curriculum Council, Brisbane, Australia.

- Raban, B 2000, *Just the Beginning* ..., Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs, Canberra, Australia.
- Raban, B 2001, 'Learning, progression and developmental principles for pedagogy and curriculum design', *Australian Journal of Early Childhood*, vol. 26(2), pp. 31–5.
- Raban, B 2003, 'Literacy in the early years', paper presented at the Education in the Early Years Conference, 16–18 July, Munich, Germany.
- Raban, B & Coates, H 2004, 'Literacy in the early years: A follow up study', *Journal of Research in Reading*, vol. 27(1), pp. 15–29.
- Raban, B, Ure, C & Waniganayake M, 2003, 'Multiple perspectives: Acknowledging the virtue of complexity in measuring quality', *Early Years*, vol. 23 (1), pp. 67–77.
- Raver, CC & Zigler, EF 1997, 'Social competence: An untapped dimension in evaluating Head Start's success', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, vol. 12, pp. 363–85.
- Reading Excellence Act 1999, *The 1999 Omnibus Appropriations Bill*, available at http://www. house.gov/eeo.
- Reese, E 1995, 'Predicting children's literacy from mother–child conversations', *Cognitive Development*, vol. 10(3), pp. 381–405.
- Reese, L & Gallimore, R 2000, 'Immigrant Latino's cultural model of literacy development: An evolving perspective on home school discontinuities', *American Journal of Education*, vol. 108(2), pp. 103–34.
- Reynolds, AJ 1995, 'One year of preschool intervention or two: Does it matter?', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, vol. 10, pp. 1–33.
- Rickleman, RJ & Henk, WA 1991, 'Parents and computers: Partners in helping children learn to read', *The Reading Teacher*, vol. 44(7), pp. 508–9.
- Robbins, J 2004, 'Researching children's thinking: Attending to contexts, collaboration, and cultural tools', paper presented at the 12th Annual Australian Research in Early Childhood Education Conference, 21–23 January, Melbourne, Australia.
- Roderick, M 1994, 'Grade retention and school drop out: Investigating the association', *American Educational Research Journal*, vol. 31(4), pp. 729–59.
- Rodriguez, MV 1999, 'Home literacy experiences of three young Dominican children in New York City: Implications for teaching in urban settings', *Educators for Urban Minorities*, vol. 1(1), pp. 19–30.
- Rogers, A 1999, 'Children and block play: Mathematical learning in early childhood', in K Baldwin & J Roberts (eds), *Mathematics: The next generation*, AAMT, Adelaide, Australia.
- Rogers, A 2000, 'Investigating the early years', *Australian Primary Mathematics Classroom*, vol. 5(4), pp. 19–22.

- Rogoff, B 1990, *Apprenticeship in thinking: Cognitive development in social context*, Random House, New York, USA.
- Rogoff, B 1998, Cognition as a collaborative process, in W Damon (Chief ed.) & D Kuhn & RS Siegler, (vol. eds), *Cognition, perceptions and language*, 5th Edn, Handbook of child psychology, pp. 679–744, John Wiley & Sons, New York, USA.
- Rogoff, B 2003, *The cultural nature of human development*, Oxford University Press, New York, USA.
- Rogoff, B, Mistry, J, Göncü, A & Mosier, C 1993, 'Guided participation in cultural activity by toddlers and caregivers', *Monograph of the Society for Research in Child Development*, Serial No. 32 vol. 58(8).
- Rogoff, B, Mosier, C, Mistry, J, & Göncü A 1998, 'Toddlers' guided participation with their caregivers in cultural activity', in M Woodhead, D Faulkner & K Littleton (eds), pp. 225–49, *Cultural worlds of early childhood*, Routledge, London, UK.
- Rogoff, B, Paradise, R, Arauz, R, Correa-Chávez, M & Angelillo, C 2003, 'Firsthand learning through intent participation', *Annual Review Psychology*, vol. 54, pp. 175–203.
- Rowe, KJ & Rowe, KS 1997, 'Inattentiveness and literacy achievement: The interdependence of student and class/teacher effects', *Journal of Pediatrics and Child Health*, vol. 33(4), A20.
- Russell, A 1985, An observational study of the effect of staff-child ratios on staff and child behaviour in South Australian kindergartens, Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia.
- Rutter, M 1985, 'Family and social influences on cognitive development' *Journal of Child Psychology*, vol. 26(5), pp. 683–704.
- Saxe, GB 1991, *Culture and cognitive development: Studies in mathematical understanding*, Erlbaum, New Jersey, USA.
- Scarr, S, Eisenberg, M, & Deater-Deckard, K 1994, 'Measurement of quality in child care centres', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, vol. 9, pp. 131–51.
- Schieffelin, BB & Ochs, E 1998, 'A cultural perspective on the transition from prelinguistic to linguistic communication', in M Woodhead, D Faulkner & K Littleton (eds), *Cultural worlds of early childhood*, pp. 48–63, Routledge, London, UK.
- Schools Council 1978, Early mathematical experiences, Addison-Wesley, London, UK.
- Schrader, CT 1990, 'Symbolic play as a curricular tool for early literacy development', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, vol. 5(1), pp. 79–103.
- Schweinhart, LJ, Barnes, HV & Weikart, DP 1993, *Significant benefits: The High Scope Perry pre-school study through age 27*, Monograph of the High/Scope Educational Research Foundation, No. 19, High Scope Press, Washington, USA.
- Schweinhart, LJ & Weikart, DP 1997, 'The High/Scope preschool curriculum comparison study through age 23', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, vol. 12, pp. 117–43.

- Schweinhart, LJ & Weikart, DP 1998 'The High/Scope Perry Preschool Program' in Price, RH (ed.) 14 ounces of prevention: A casebook for practitioners American Psychological Association, Washington, USA.
- Schweinhart, LJ & Weikart, DP 1998, 'Why curriculum matters in early childhood education', *Educational Leadership*, vol. 55(6), pp. 57–60.
- Schweinhart, LJ & Weikart, DP 1999, 'The advantages of High/Scope: Helping children lead successful lives', *Educational Leadership*, vol. 57(1), pp. 76–8.
- Schweinhart, LJ, Weikart, DP & Larner, MB 1986, 'Consequences of three preschool curriculum models through age 15', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, vol. 1(1), pp. 15–46.
- Schweinhart, LJ, Young, JW & Barnett, SW 1998, 'How preschool education influences long term cognitive development and school success: A causal model', in SW Barnett & SS Boocook (eds), *Early care and education for children in poverty: Promises, Programs and long term results*, Albany State University of New York Press, New York.
- Schweinhart, LJ & Kuhlman, K 1999, *Timing in Child Development*, High Scope Educational Research Foundation, Ypsilanti, MI.
- Seefeldt, C, Galper, A & Denton, K 1997, 'Head Start children's conceptions of and expectations for their future schooling', *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, vol. 12, pp. 387–406.
- Senate Employment, Education and Training References Committee 1996, *Childhood matters: The report of the enquiry into early childhood education*, Canberra, Australia.
- Serpell, R, Sonnenchein, S, Baker, L & Ganapathy, H 2002, 'Intimate culture of families in the early socialization of literacy', *Journal of Family Psychology*, vol. 16(4), pp. 391–405.
- Sharpe, P 1998, 'Thinking about thinking. A study if the adult's role in providing for the development of number awareness in young children', *Early Child Development and Care*, (144), pp. 79–89.
- Shore, R 1997, *Rethinking the brain: New insights into early development*, Families and Work Institute, New York, USA.
- Siraj-Blatchford, I 2004, 'Quality teaching in the early years', in A Anning, J Cullen & M Fleer (eds), *Early childhood education: Society and culture*, Sage Publications, London, UK, pp. 137–148.
- Siraj-Blatchford, I & Taggart, B 2000, 'Characteristics of pre-school environments (interview profiles) the Effective provision of Pre-school Education (EPPE) project. A longitudinal study funded by the DfEE (1997–2000)', paper presented at the EPPE Symposium at the British Educational Research Association (BERA) Conference, 7–9 September, Cardiff, UK.
- Siraj-Blatchford, I & Clarke, P 2000, *Supporting identity, diversity and language in the early years*, Open University Press, Buckingham, UK.

Siraj-Blatchford, I, Sylva, K, Muttock, S, Gilden, R & Bell, D 2002, *Researching effective pedagogy in the early year*, Research Report RR356, Department for Education and Skills, London, UK.

Skutnabb-Kangas, T 1981, Bilingual or not? Multilingual Matters, Clevedon, UK.

- Smith, AB 1996, 'Early childhood educare: Quality programs which care and educate', *Childhood Education – International Focus Issue*, vol. 72(6), pp. 330–6.
- Smith, AB 1997, 'Defining and choosing quality: Messages from research', paper presented at the seminar Quality Contexts for Children's Development, 12th March, Invercargill, UK.
- Smith, AB 1999, 'Quality childcare and joint attention', *International Journal of Early Years Education*, vol. 7(1), pp. 85–98.
- Smith, AB & Barraclough, SJ 1997, *Quality childcare: Do parents choose it?* NZCER, Wellington, NZ.
- Smith, AB, Grima, G, Gaffney, M, Powell, K, Masse, L & Barnett, S 2000, *Strategic research initiatives*. *Literature review*, early childhood education, Report to the Ministry of Education, New Zealand.
- Smith, AB, McMillan, BW, Kennedy, S & Ratcliff, B 1989, 'The effect of improving preschool teacher/child ratios: An experiment in nature', *Early Child Development and Care*, vol. 42, pp. 123–38.
- Snow, C 1991, 'The theoretical basis for relationships between language and literacy development', *Journal of Research in Education*, vol. 6(1), pp. 5–21.
- Snow, C, Burns, M & Griffin, P 1998, *Preventing reading difficulties in young children*, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, USA.
- Snow, CE & Ferguson, CA 1997, *Talking to Children: Language Input & Acquisition* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Stacey, K & Groves, S 1996, 'Redefining early number concepts through calculator use', in J Mulligan & M Mitchelmore (eds), *Children's number learning: A research monograph of MERGA/AAMT*, Australian Association of Mathematics Teachers, Adelaide, Australia.
- Sulzby, E 1984, 'Children's emergent reading of favourite storybooks: A developmental study', *Reading Research Quarterly*, vol. 20, pp. 458–81.
- Sulzby, E 1985/1994, Children's Emergent Reading of Favorite Storybooks: A Developmental Study', Reading Research Quarterly, vol. 20, pp. 458–481. Republished with update in R Ruddell, M Ruddell & H Singer (eds) 1994, Theoretical Models and Processes of Reading, 4th Edition, Newark, DE: International Reading Association.
- Sulzby, E & Teale, W 1991, 'Emergent literacy', in R Barr (ed.), *Handbook of Reading Research* vol. 2, Longman, New York, USA.
- Swinson, J 1985, 'A parental involvement project in a nursery school', *Educational Psychology in Practice*, vol. 1(1), pp. 19–22.

Sylva, K 1993, 'Work or play in the nursery?', International Play Journal, vol. 1(1), pp. 5–15.

- Sylva, K 1994a, 'The impact of early learning on children's later development', in C Ball (ed.), *Start right: The importance of early learning*, Royal Society of Arts, Manufacturing and Commerce, London, UK.
- Sylva, K 1994b, 'School influences on children's development', *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, vol. 35(1), pp. 135–70.
- Sylva, K & McSherry, K 2000, 'Characteristics of preschool environments (observational profiles) The Effective Provision of Preschool Education (EPPE) project. A longitudinal study funded by the DfEE (1997–2003)', paper presented at the EPPE symposium at the British Educational Research Association (BERA) Conference, 7–9 September, Cardiff, UK.
- Sylva, K, Melhuish, E, Sammons, P, Siraj-Blatchford, I, Taggart, B 2001, 'The Effective Provision of Pre-school education (EPPE) Project. A longitudinal study funded by the DfEE (1997–2003)', paper presented at the EPPE symposium at the British Educational Research Association (BERA) Annual Conference, 13–15 September, Leeds University, UK.
- Sylva, K & Sammons, P 2000, 'An introduction to EPPE. The Effective Provision of Preschool Education (EPPE) project. A longitudinal study funded by the DfEE (1997–2003)', paper presented at the EPPE symposium at the British Educational Research Association (BERA) Conference, 7–9 September, Cardiff, UK.
- Tabors, P, Snow, C & Dickinson, D 2001,' Homes and schools together: Supporting language and literacy development', in D Dickenson & P Tabors (eds), *Beginning literacy with language*, pp. 313–34, Paul Brookes, Baltimore, MD, USA.
- Tang, EP & Ginsburg, HP 1999, 'Young children's mathematical reasoning: A psychological view', in V Stiff (ed.), *Developing mathematical reasoning in grades K–12*, National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, USA.
- Taylor, D 1983 *Family Literacy: Young Children Learning to Read and Write* Heinemann, New Hampshire, USA.
- Taylor, D & Dorsey-Gaines, C 1998, *Growing up literate: Learning from inner-city families*, Heinemann, New Hampshire, USA.
- Teale, W & Sulzby, E (eds) 1986, *Emergent literacy: Writing and reading*, Albex, New Jersey, USA.
- Tharp, RG & Gallimore, R 1988, *Rousing minds to life: Teaching, learning and schooling in social context*, Cambridge University Press, New York, USA.
- Thomas, D & Currie, J 1993, 'Does Head Start make a difference?', *NBER Working Papers* 5805, National Bureau of Economics Research Inc.
- Tizard, B & Hughes, M 1984, *Young children learning: Taking and thinking at home and school*, Fontana, London, UK.

Trevarthen, C 1995, 'The Child's needs to learn culture', in Children and Society

- Trevarthen, C & Aitken, K 2001, 'Infant intersubjectivity: research, theory and clinical applications', *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, vol. 42(1), pp. 3–48.
- Van Oers, B 1996, 'Are you sure? Stimulating mathematical thinking during young children's play', *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, vol. 4(1), pp. 71–87.
- Vygotsky, LS 1962, Thought and language, MIT Press, Cambridge, USA.
- Vygotsky, LS 1966, 'Play and its role in the mental development of the child', *Soviet Psychology*, vol. 12, pp. 62–76.
- Vygotsky, LS 1978, *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological process*, Harvard University Press, USA.
- Walkerdine, V 1988, *The mastery of reason. Cognitive development and the production of rationality*, Routledge, London, UK.
- Wartella, EA & Jennings, N 2000, 'Children and computers: New technology old concerns', *The Future of Children: Children and Computer Technology*, vol. 10(2), pp. 31–43.
- Wasik, BH, Ramey, CT, Bryant, DM & Sparling, JJ 1990, 'A longitudinal study of two early intervention strategies: Project CARE' Child Development, vol. 61(6), pp. 1682–1696.
- Watson, R 2001, 'Literacy and oral language: implications for early literacy acquisition' in Neuman, S & Dickinson, D (eds) *Handbook of Early Literacy Research* The Guilford Press, New York, USA.
- Weinberger, J et al. 1990, *Ways of working with parents to promote early literacy*, USDE Papers in Education No. 14, Division of Education, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, UK.
- Whitehead, J 1996, 'Sex, stereotypes, gender identity and subject choice at "A" level', in *Educational Research*, 38(2).
- Whitehead, MR 2002, *Developing language & literacy with young children (2nd edition)*, Chapman, London, UK.
- Williams-Kennedy, D 2004, 'Building bridges between literacies', in A Anning, J Cullen & M Fleer (eds), *Early childhood education, society and culture*, Sage Publications, London, UK.
- Willis, S 1998a, 'First do no harm: Accountability and the numeracy benchmarks', *Curriculum Perspectives*, vol. 18(3), pp. 70–7.
- Willis, S 1998b, 'Perspectives on social justice, disadvantage and the mathematics curriculum, A view from Australia', in C Keital (ed.), *Social justice and mathematics education: Gender, class and ethnicity and the politics of schooling, International organisation of women and mathematics education*, Freie Universitaet, Berlin, Germany.
- Willis, AI 2000, *Critical Issue: Addressing Literacy needs in culturally & linguistically diverse classroom* from http://www.ncrel.org/sdrs/areas/issues/content/cntareas/reading/i400.htm.

- Willis, S 2001, 'Becoming numerate: Who's at risk and why?', paper presented at the Early Years Numeracy Conference, Melbourne, Australia.
- Willis, S 2002, 'Crossing borders: Learning to count', *Australian Educational Researchers*, vol. 19(2), pp. 115–30.
- Willis, S unpublished, Early learning in mathematics, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia.
- Wolter, D 2000, 'Embracing family literacy', Early Childhood Education, vol. 33(2), pp. 52-4.
- Wood, D 1998 How children think and learn, 2nd edn, Blackwell, UK.
- Wood, D 2004, 'Developing a pedagogy of play', in A Anning, J Cullen & M Fleer (eds), *Early Childhood Education: Society and Culture*, Sage Publications, London, UK.
- Wood, D, Bruner, JS & Ross, G 1976, 'The Role of Tutoring in Problem Solving', *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, vol. 17, pp. 89–100.
- Woodhead, M, Faulkner, D & Littleton, K (eds) 1998, *Cultural worlds of early childhood*, Routledge, London, UK.
- Wright, RJ 1996, 'First-graders' progress in an experimental mathematics recovery program', in J Mulligan & M Mitchelmore (eds), *Research in early number learning: An Australian* perspective, AAMT, Adelaide, Australia.
- Wright, RJ 2000a, 'Professional development in recovery education', in P Steffe & PW Thompson (eds), *Radical constructivism in action: Building on the pioneering work of Ernst Von Glaerfeld*, Falmer, London, UK.
- Wright, RJ 2000b, *Early numeracy: Assessing for teaching and intervention*, Sage Publications, London, UK.
- Wright, RJ 2002, 'Assessing young children's arithmetical strategies and knowledge: Providing learning opportunities for teachers', *Australian Journal of Early Childhood*, vol. 27(3), pp.31–6.
- Yackel, E 1998, 'A study of argumentation in a second-grade mathematics classroom', paper presented at the proceedings of the 22nd conference of the International Group of the Psychology of Mathematics Education, 12–17 July, Stellenbosh, South Africa.
- Yelland, NJ 1999, 'Technology as play', *Early Childhood Education Journal*, vol. 26(4), pp. 217–20.
- Yoshikawa, H 1995, 'Long term effects of early childhood programs on social outcomes and delinquency', *The Future of Children*, vol. 5(3), pp. 51–75.
- Young, J 1995, Young children's apprenticeship in number, PhD thesis, University of London.
- Young-Loveridge, J, Peters, S & Carr, M 1998, 'Enhancing the mathematics of four year olds: An overview of the EMI-4s study', *Journal of Australian Research in Early Childhood Education*, vol. 1, 82–93.